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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED: Thank you.  Good

          3  afternoon.  I am Philip Reed, Chair of Consumer

          4  Affairs Committee, and we are having testimony on

          5  two different issues today.  I've been joined, to my

          6  left, by Council Member Vincent Gentile from

          7  Brooklyn.  And I wanted to say at the beginning of

          8  the meeting that our schedule of the Council has

          9  been a little bit changed because of some budget

         10  issues that have come up and most of the Council is

         11  being called into meetings of the various borough

         12  delegations, so you may see Council members coming

         13  in and out.  It's unavoidable because we're at the

         14  point in the calendar where we always have budget

         15  things that we've been asked by our Speaker to come

         16  to some resolution about a few things by the end of

         17  the day.  So we may have to have a somewhat

         18  truncated hearing on both the resolution, as it

         19  relates to the Nielsens, and the introduction by

         20  Council Member Avella. And I apologize for that but

         21  I didn't want to delay starting the meeting.  So you

         22  may see Council members -- and I know there's also

         23  another hearing next door.  So we're all under a

         24  little more strain than normal.  One of the

         25  delegations in fact, just as a space requirement, is
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          2  actually meeting at 250 Broadway.  So just trying to

          3  get people back and forth, so that's why you don't

          4  see a lot of people here and they may be coming in

          5  and out.  Thank you.

          6                 We are meeting this afternoon for two

          7  purposes.  First, we'll be revisiting Resolution 268

          8  by Council Member Monserrate concerning the Nielsen

          9  Local People Meter service.  After that we will be

         10  taking testimony on Intro.  287 regarding the resale

         11  of previously purchased undergarments.  I look

         12  forward to discussing both issues.

         13                 Resolution 268 calls on the Nielsen

         14  Media Research Company to delay the introduction of

         15  Local People Meter service in the New York City

         16  media market until sufficient studies have been

         17  conducted to ensure fair and accurate counting of

         18  all New York City dealers regardless of their race,

         19  ethnicity or national origin.

         20                 As many of you know, the Nielsen

         21  Company is attempting to introduce Local People

         22  meters, a specific kind of tracking device, to

         23  monitor local viewership in the New York City

         24  market.  In February when results of an initial test

         25  of this technology were announced, Nielsen found a
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          2  significant drop in the viewing of shows popular

          3  with Black and Latino viewers.  Since then, a broad

          4  group of advocates, community leaders, elected

          5  officials and television industry representatives

          6  have argued that the Local People Meter undercount

          7  non- white viewers and have called for a delay in

          8  the implementation.  In response, Nielsen put off

          9  the roll out date until June 3rd.

         10                 Today we're going to hear more about

         11  their actions since our last hearing and review any

         12  new developments.  Many advocates are demanding that

         13  the LPM, Local People Meter, implementation be

         14  postponed as our resolution discusses, Nielsen can

         15  provide assurances -- until Nielsen, I'm sorry, can

         16  provide assurances that its data is fair and

         17  accurate.  So we will be hearing from Nielsen.

         18                 We have reached out to a wide range

         19  of stakeholders on this issue and we are pleased to

         20  hear from them.  I again would urge people to try to

         21  be brief in their testimony.  If an individual has

         22  already testified, I would certainly ask them to be

         23  brief or to at least bring us new testimony as it

         24  relates to what we may hear of things that have

         25  changed or new information since our last hearing.
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          2                 We have been joined now by Council

          3  Member Monserrate who is the prime sponsor of the

          4  resolution.  I don't know if Council Member

          5  Monserrate -- did you have some opening comments?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Yes.

          7  Thank you, Council Member Chairman Reed.  Thank you

          8  for continuing to making this issue a priority here

          9  in the City Council on behalf of the constituents of

         10  the City of New York.

         11                 Since our last hearing, many leaders

         12  and activists within the City's large and diverse

         13  communities of color have been eagerly awaiting

         14  Nielsen's self- conducted report addressing concerns

         15  over the new Local People Meter rating systems and

         16  its impacts on communities of color.  Our

         17  constituents have a vested interest in how their

         18  viewing preferences are calculated and whether or

         19  not their voices are being heard and properly

         20  recorded.

         21                 I am pleased that Nielsen has taken

         22  this important step in conducting an investigation

         23  into the efficacy of their new rating system and

         24  believe it to be a very positive step on the path to

         25  accurate and representative data.  However, there
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          2  are problematic areas in the report that I believe

          3  must be addressed before the People Meters are

          4  rolled out in New York.  Specifically, problems of

          5  Latino recruitment, differences in how the devices

          6  are used by people of color and the

          7  overrepresentation of people of color among

          8  households from which viewing data was not recorded

          9  at all were not addressed in this report.

         10                 I am concerned that this report was

         11  released in large part as a relations tool rather

         12  than an accurate assessment as to the effects of the

         13  People Meters on our communities.  In order to

         14  alleviate growing concerns, and there have been

         15  quite a bit of those throughout our City, I believe

         16  that an independent study must be conducted to

         17  guarantee objectivity on this important issue.

         18                 I thank the Committee for their time

         19  and attention given to this matter of ensuring our

         20  communities that their opinions and their voices are

         21  being heard.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you, Council

         23  Member. We want to first hear from the Nielsen

         24  representatives and I'm trying to see who it all is

         25  that signed in, but you probably know yourselves, so
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          2  why don't you come and take a seat there at the

          3  witness table.

          4                 Thank you.  Good afternoon.  Would

          5  you, as you are speaking, or maybe you want to

          6  introduce everyone there,  then as you're speaking,

          7  would you please identify yourselves for the record.

          8    Thank you.  What we like to say is

          9  counterintuitive.  I hope our system works.  When

         10  the light's off, the microphone is on.

         11                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman and members of the Committee.  I'm Susan

         13  Whiting, the President and CEO of Nielsen Media

         14  Research.  I have with me today David

         15  Schwartz-Leepor, who is Senior Vice-President and

         16  General Counsel, and Paul Donato, our Senior Vice

         17  President and Chief Research Officer.

         18                 Nielsen Media has been measuring TV

         19  viewing in New York and across the United States for

         20  more than 50 years.  We are the source of audience

         21  estimates for broadcast and cable networks,

         22  television stations, national studios, regional

         23  cable TV systems, satellite providers, advertisers

         24  and advertising agencies.  Because we are neither

         25  owned or controlled by any of the media companies,
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          2  we provide independent, unbiased results that are

          3  audited annually by an independent auditor.

          4                 I have been at Nielsen for 25 years.

          5  In May of 2001 I was appointed the COO and the

          6  following January President and CEO.

          7                 Today, I'm pleased to be able to

          8  speak to you and to reaffirm our commitment to

          9  ensuring that the TV rating system fairly represents

         10  New York City and all of its TV viewers.

         11                 There are really few industries that

         12  are changing as much as the technology around

         13  television today as the worldwide leader in

         14  measuring TV.  That provides a lot of different

         15  challenges to us but it also provides a lot of

         16  responsibility.  We take that very seriously and

         17  we're aware of and understand the impact of that

         18  responsibility.

         19                 One of the things I want to make sure

         20  I convey today is that we understand that people of

         21  color have historically been undercounted and

         22  underrepresented in American society in everything

         23  from the census to positions of power in the

         24  government.  We also recognize that people of color

         25  continue to not see their faces on TV in proportions
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          2  that match their numbers in U.S. Society.  I know

          3  that these injustices have fueled a lot of the

          4  concern about People Meters being introduced in New

          5  York, and that's why I'm here, to explain how People

          6  Meters do a better job than the current measurement

          7  systems in fairly and accurately counting people of

          8  color.

          9                 So what are People Meters and some

         10  background?  They are electronic devices that

         11  automatically record what each person in a household

         12  is watching.  They are currently used by, it's

         13  actually close to, 6,000 households including 300 in

         14  New York who provide national ratings for

         15  television.  We're in the process of introducing

         16  People Meters into local markets to replace old

         17  fashioned paper diaries which require viewers to

         18  write down what they watch.  They're currently used

         19  in Boston.  We plan to introduce them, as you know,

         20  in New York, Los Angeles, Chicago and San Francisco

         21  later this year.

         22                 They're very important to television

         23  programmers and advertisers because, and this is the

         24  big change in the business, the average household

         25  has over a hundred channels of television and they
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          2  don't watch TV the same way.  They don't stay

          3  anchored to a single show for a half an hour.

          4  Instead, people prefer to surf channels and sample a

          5  variety of different programs.  People Meters record

          6  these minute- by- minute changes electronically as

          7  they happen, unlike paper diaries where someone has

          8  to write it down.

          9                 Our People Meter sample in New York

         10  is nearly 50% larger than the sample for the current

         11  system in New York.  As a result, we have 50% more

         12  participating African American and Latino households

         13  and, contrary to unfounded claims that Nielsen

         14  undercounts these populations in New York, we

         15  actually slightly overrepresent both groups.  This

         16  results in more detailed and more reliable

         17  estimates.  To ensure that our samples fully

         18  represent the New York community, we use enhanced

         19  incentives, improved recruitment methods to

         20  encourage greater participation among people of

         21  color.  We also hire field representatives and

         22  membership representatives who reflect the community

         23  including African Americans, English-speaking

         24  Latinos, Spanish-speaking Latinos,

         25  Chinese-Americans, Korean-Americans, Vietnamese
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          2  Americans and others.

          3                 Our plans to introduce People Meters

          4  in New York were well- known and widely supported in

          5  the television industry.  Nevertheless, as we

          6  approach the planned launch date of April 8th, we

          7  heard from a lot of you, from elected officials,

          8  from community leaders who were clearly concerned

          9  about the impact of this system on people of color.

         10  And out of respect for you and other community

         11  leaders, we decided, even though we're asked to take

         12  a pause of in some cases a week or a month, we

         13  decided to postpone the implementation of this for

         14  two months.  We wanted to do that to effectively

         15  address many concerns people had about our methods

         16  and our technology.

         17                 Since then I and the rest of our team

         18  have met with more than a hundred elected officials,

         19  community leaders and other people representing

         20  local, state and national levels.  They've included

         21  meetings with the staffs of Senator Clinton and

         22  Schumer and members of Congress, briefing

         23  Congressional Black and Hispanic caucuses, meeting

         24  with State Senate and Assembly leaders in Albany,

         25  members of the City Council, representatives of the
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          2  Mayor's Office, briefing leaders from organizations

          3  such as the NAACP, the Hispanic Federation and 100

          4  Black Men, attending the "Somos El Futuro"

          5  conference in Albany and sponsoring some of those

          6  events, and obviously appearing before this

          7  Committee twice.

          8                 As we prepare to launch this service

          9  in Los Angeles and Chicago, we're clearly doing the

         10  same thing in other communities.  In every instance,

         11  we have offered solid evidence that our Local People

         12  Meter sample is fully representative of African-

         13  American and Latino viewers and that People Meters

         14  provide the most accurate measure of people of

         15  color.

         16                 Let me add that in New York, Los

         17  Angeles and other metropolitan areas, this includes

         18  Asian- Americans. Asian- Americans constitute 4% of

         19  our sample in New York and we have an ongoing

         20  program developed with UCLA to improve membership

         21  recruitment for this audience.

         22                 Earlier this month, we did produce a

         23  report based on March information, comparing our

         24  People Meter sample in New York to our current

         25  measurement system.
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          2                 The analysis of the March data showed

          3  that the overall amount of viewing among African-

          4  Americans and Latinos has remained constant.  In

          5  other words, there isn't less viewing between the

          6  People Meter system, the new system and the old

          7  system.  What's different is people are watching a

          8  lot more channels.  One result is that some popular

          9  broadcast shows with African- American themes have

         10  experienced rating changes, as have some programs

         11  geared to general audiences.

         12                 For example, while ratings for

         13  programs such as "The Parkers" and "My Wife and

         14  Kids" have fallen, shows like "Alias", "The

         15  Practice," and "The Simpsons" have also seen their

         16  People Meter numbers drop by double digits when

         17  compared to the older system.

         18                 This shift in viewing patterns, while

         19  disturbing to some media companies, is clearly

         20  benefitting many smaller broadcasting cable

         21  networks, several of which are owned and operated by

         22  people of color.

         23                 Let me give you just one example.

         24  During the month of March, the overall local People

         25  Meter dealership among Latino audiences increased
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          2  for 80 networks, while decreasing for only 17.  At

          3  the same time, African- American audiences

          4  viewership has increased for 90 networks and

          5  decreased for 19.

          6                 In some instances, the advantages of

          7  this transition have been very impressive.  Among

          8  African American viewers total day viewing, meaning

          9  from start to end of the day, for BET is up 180%

         10  under the People Meters.

         11  Likewise, African- American viewing has increased

         12  more than 100% for a diverse range of other networks

         13  including ESPN, Lifetime Movie Network, Telefutura,

         14  Pax and Starz.

         15                 Among Latino viewers, Telemundo and

         16  Telefutura, ratings are up three- quarters and a

         17  half a rating point respectively and cable access

         18  channels, which carry much of the programming in

         19  these communities, and the HBO Zone pay channel are

         20  up more than 100%.

         21                 Rather than undercounting people of

         22  color, Local People Meter measurements reveal that

         23  these audiences have a greater impact throughout the

         24  TV schedule than was previously understood.

         25  Programmers and advertisers pay attention to that.
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          2  Just as importantly, the rating system is becoming

          3  more democratic because People Meters now enable the

          4  viewing of even the smallest networks, networks that

          5  get a .1 rating show up in this system and channels

          6  to be accurately recorded.

          7                 As BET President Debra Lee said in a

          8  recent statement:  "Networks like BET could

          9  certainly benefit from information that depicts the

         10  true viewing patterns of African- American

         11  consumers."  She added, "It makes sense to use

         12  modern methodology like Local People Meters to

         13  accurately measure viewership at the local level."

         14                 The television industry and its

         15  audiences are constantly changing and, as they do,

         16  we must change with them.  But we also must be able

         17  to appreciate and respond to the different reactions

         18  whenever we institute change.  And certainly a

         19  change of the currency of measuring television is

         20  one of those situations.

         21                 In the past, we've participated with

         22  representatives of people of color communities such

         23  as a special Task Force headed by Congresswoman

         24  Cardiss Collins to share ideas and gain insight on

         25  ways to better gather and record viewer information.
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          2                 What is more, we've been advised by

          3  the firm of Deloitte & Touche on how to improve our

          4  Spanish language procedures in our measurement

          5  services.  And I will add, there are many other

          6  activities in these areas as well.

          7                 At present, Congressman Rangel is in

          8  the process of establishing a task force of

          9  respected industry and community leaders that will

         10  collaborate with Nielsen over time to make certain

         11  African- Americans and Latinos are fairly counted in

         12  our ratings.  We have certainly endeavored to

         13  represent fairly all segments of the population,

         14  particularly African- American and Latino

         15  communities.  Our business is about representing all

         16  audiences.  We have no incentive to undercount

         17  anyone.  We'll continue to focus on accurately

         18  measuring television audiences and remain steadfast

         19  in our commitment to do so, however, we think it's

         20  time to hear from the marketplace as well.

         21                 In New York the Local People Meter

         22  service has met all the quality standards

         23  established for the service.  We've provided three

         24  months of information on both the People Meter

         25  service and the current Meter Diary service to
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          2  simulate the effect of integrating this service

          3  going forward.

          4                 People Meter service has been

          5  overwhelmingly endorsed by the television industry.

          6  That is because in this very, very competitive

          7  environment of hundreds of channels, it's critical

          8  that TV programmers and advertisers can identify and

          9  target audiences.  Only the People Meter technology

         10  provides that.

         11                 This is also the view of a number of

         12  key newspapers including The New York Daily News,

         13  Newsday, The Wall Street Journal, The Chicago Sun

         14  Times, Variety, and Media Post.  I am submitting

         15  their published statements of support for your

         16  consideration.

         17                 Because electronic People Meters are

         18  so demonstrably better and more accurate than paper

         19  diaries, we believe the only responsible course is

         20  to proceed with the June 3rd launch of the People

         21  Meter service in New York, while continuing to

         22  closely monitor the process under normal conditions

         23  for an appropriate time.

         24                 During that time we will work with

         25  leaders from the industry and various communities to
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          2  make whatever changes are necessary to ensure that

          3  the system does what it was meant to do, provide the

          4  most accurate and most representative estimates of

          5  television viewing behavior in New York.  That will

          6  ensure that everyone counts.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

          8  much for your testimony.

          9                 A little housekeeping.  We've also

         10  been joined by our colleague, Council Member Charles

         11  Barron from Brooklyn, thank you, a member of this

         12  Committee.

         13                 And for the sake of people

         14  scheduling, we are going to, I am aiming to start

         15  the second part of this hearing no later than about

         16  2:10 or 2:15, so -- I'd like to start earlier so

         17  people should be mindful in their questions and

         18  their comments as regards the Nielsens.

         19                 Ms. Whiting, you said in the last

         20  part of your testimony, and I thought your testimony

         21  was, answered a lot of the questions that we have

         22  been discussing and I think across the board, you

         23  said Nielsen has provided three months of parallel

         24  LPM and Meter Diary data to simulate the effect of

         25  integrating new service into New York.  Who have you
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          2  provided this information to?

          3                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  To the broad

          4  community of advertisers and programmers and media

          5  folks who are clients, who look at that information

          6  and then, to everybody who's asked questions about

          7  this situation, we've provided the March analysis of

          8  the two systems.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You have that

         10  information to bring to us today?

         11                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  The research

         12  paper, we can provide the research paper from March.

         13    You have that, I think.  I think we delivered that

         14  to you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay.  Do you want

         16  to make that part of your presentation now?

         17                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  The paper, the

         18  research paper?  That's fine, we can --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  In summary.

         20                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  The research

         21  paper basically showed the comparison of rating from

         22  the current system to the People Meter system.  The

         23  significant finding was that people aren't watching

         24  less television under the People Meter system,

         25  they're watching different channels and they're
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          2  watching a broad, broad range of channels because

          3  the electronic measurement allows you to pick up

          4  down to minute- by- minute viewing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You mentioned at

          6  the beginning of your testimony that you have had,

          7  you have actually an increase in the total number of

          8  households, but you didn't give us a number.

          9                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Yes.  We're

         10  moving from a sample of about 500 households in New

         11  York to a sample of 800 households.  That's the

         12  equivalent of about 2,000 people every day will be

         13  in the panel in New York.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So again, 800

         15  households and the average household has a certain

         16  number of TVs?

         17                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  On average now,

         18  most households have close to three TVs and close to

         19  a hundred channels and about 2.3 people, Paul, is

         20  that right?

         21                 MR. DONATO:  That's right.

         22                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  So it's a

         23  significantly larger sample, particularly as it

         24  relates to measuring people of color than the

         25  current sample.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And in the old way

          3  of doing this with the diaries, you had how many in

          4  the sample?

          5                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  We have a

          6  combination of a panel of 500 households who provide

          7  just the tuning on what's on the TV set and then

          8  diaries that are kept for a week in major sweep

          9  periods, major measurement periods.  So a separate

         10  group of people would keep a diary for a week and

         11  that's --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  A separate group

         13  beyond the 500?

         14                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And how many was

         16  that group?

         17                 MR. DONATO:  It's about 500 per week.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Would you please

         19  just tell us your name for the record?

         20                 MR. DONATO: My name is Paul Donato.

         21  I'm Chief Research Officer for Nielsen.  The Diary

         22  panel has typically 500 households per week for each

         23  of four weeks.

         24                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  So in May, for

         25  instance, which is a measurement period, we have
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          2  2,000 separate people keeping diaries each for a

          3  week across the month of May and in parallel a panel

          4  of 500 households who have meters and they both

          5  produce information.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And what is the

          7  percentage of people, African- American, Latino,

          8  Asian, et cetera, in this new 800 universe?

          9                 MR. DONATO:  Well, in each case we

         10  are slightly overrepresenting relative to universe,

         11  so we're about three points high, three percentage

         12  points high on African- Americans and on Latinos.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Three points high

         14  of what?

         15                 MR. DONATO:  Total households

         16  installed.  If the universe estimate is about 16% of

         17  the New York market, then our sample would represent

         18  approximately 19, 19.5% or 19.5% of the households

         19  would be African- American.  Latinos, it's

         20  approximately the same, approximately 17% of the

         21  households in the New York market are Latino.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, you know, my

         23  math stopped at just adding and subtracting some

         24  percentages.  So you sound like we've moved

         25  algarhythms now.  You have 2,000 households here in
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          2   -- 800 households in New York.  How many -- what

          3  percentage of that number identifies themselves as

          4  African- American, what percentage identifies

          5  themselves as Latino and what percentage of them

          6  identify themselves as Asian or anything else?

          7  That's what I want to know.

          8                 MR. DONATO:  In the New York market

          9  approximately 4% of the sample identifies themselves

         10  as Asian, the universe is about 6.7%.  In the New

         11  York market it's about 19% that would identify

         12  themselves as African American.  The universe

         13  estimate is about 16%.  And Latino is very similar

         14  to African- American, it's about 17, 16 or 19%.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  16% of the 800 are

         16  African- Americans?  Is that what you just said?

         17                 MR. DONATO:  Yes.

         18                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  No, 19.

         19                 MR. DONATO:  No, no, 19, sorry.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  19% are African-

         21  American?

         22                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Yes.

         23                 MR. DONATO:  Approximately.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So that doesn't

         25  really flow or track the real population numbers
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          2  that we know of, the eight million people who live

          3  in New York.

          4                 MR. DONATO:  Yes, it does.  Don't

          5  forget the market is not just New York City, the

          6  market is the 28 counties around New York City.

          7  There's a total of about 15 million people in the

          8  New York market and those numbers really project the

          9  total market.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I have, the

         11  Council has some new rules that we're supposed to

         12  turn the cell phones off.  So you can certainly have

         13  them on vibrate if you'd like, but we'd appreciate

         14  it if you'd turn them off. Council members are all

         15  mindful of that; maybe the audience isn't.

         16                 Could you define geographically this

         17  boundary that we're talking about?

         18                 MR. DONATO:  Sure.  If you think of

         19  it as the 28 counties around Manhattan, that defines

         20  the New York market.  The market is created or

         21  defined by virtue of the television viewing of the

         22  households in that market.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, I'm sorry.

         24  So you're talking about Connecticut, New Jersey --

         25                 MR. DONATO:  There's one --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I don't know 28

          3  counties.

          4                 MR. DONATO:  There's one county --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- To five that

          6  make up New York.  So you're talking Massachusetts?

          7                 MR. DONATO:  No.  No, there's one

          8  county in Connecticut.  There's several counties in

          9  New Jersey and there's one county in Pennsylvania,

         10  Pike County, and the remainder in New York.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And the purpose

         12  for using that universe is?

         13                 MR. DONATO:  It's called a designated

         14  market area.  It's something that the SEC uses.  It

         15  is determined by looking at the television viewing

         16  of all the homes within each of those counties.  And

         17  a simple explanation of it is if most of the viewing

         18  in homes in say a county in Southern New Jersey go

         19  to New York home- based stations, that county is

         20  assigned to the New York market.  If, on the other

         21  hand, it went to Philadelphia- based stations, it

         22  would be assigned to the Philadelphia market.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So then within

         24  that universe, if we look at the racial breakdown of

         25  all of that 28 counties per se, you're saying that
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          2  the households would track closely to the

          3  population?

          4                 MR. DONATO:  That's correct.  That's

          5  correct.

          6                 We also, Mr. Chairman, track within

          7  New York City, and the representation of Latinos and

          8  African- American households within the counties of

          9  New York City are much more accurately represented

         10  within the People Meter sample than within the old

         11  set meter sample.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Can you tell me

         13  those numbers?  Can you tell me how many households

         14  Local People Meters are in within the five boroughs,

         15  that breakdown?

         16                 MR. DONATO:  I don't have it with me,

         17  but we can certainly provide that for you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Can you come up

         19  with a rough guess?

         20                 MR. DONATO:  I think it's

         21  approximately 70%.

         22  It's --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  70% of the 800?

         24                 MR. DONATO:  Slightly less than 70%

         25  of the Latinos and African- Americans in the DMA
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          2  live in the five counties of New York City.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I have several

          4  other questions, but I know Council Member

          5  Monserrate has a few, so I'll ask him to ask his

          6  questions and try to be as succinct as we can.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

          8  you, Mr. Chairman.  Good afternoon, Ms. Whiting.

          9                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank you

         11  for coming here and participating in today's

         12  hearings.

         13                 At our last hearing I know that my

         14  colleague, Council Member Barron from Brooklyn was

         15  also concerned about this issue.  Nielsen was asked

         16  regarding the issue of people of color working in

         17  your organization.  As I understand, you have

         18  recently provided us with a letter confirming that

         19  everyone in your senior management is white.  What

         20  are you doing currently to improve this situation?

         21                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  That's accurate.

         22  A number of things.  We're looking at hiring any new

         23  position very actively, making sure we're reaching

         24  out to additional recruiters.  We have started a

         25  management training program which is a very diverse
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          2  group of folks which we'll repeat every year.  And

          3  every opening that we have at a senior level is

          4  being reconsidered when it opens for more diverse a

          5  population.  We're going to make this work.  We

          6  will.  I'm committed to doing that and you will see

          7  changes over the next short period of time.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Good.

          9  Before I go into the rest of my line of questions,

         10  let me just reiterate that, as you could well

         11  understand as co- Chair of the Black, Latino and

         12  Asian caucus here in the City of New York, I have

         13  always been an advocate to ensure representation.

         14  One of the biggest problems that I think that our

         15  communities face with corporate America is the lack

         16  of representation and these issues that we currently

         17  deal with I think only become even heightened when

         18  we see once again, time and time again, how we're

         19  not at the table. We're not making decisions at the

         20  executive level at Nielsen and I just think it's an

         21  unfortunate coincidence that we're dealing with the

         22  fact and the concerns of particularly communities of

         23  color and then when we look at the organizations

         24  that we're dealing with, there's a lack of diversity

         25  in that leadership.
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          2                 Let me move on to some more specific

          3  questions that I think need to be responded to.

          4  Given the amount of money linked to the findings of

          5  the Local People Meters and the concerns raised by

          6  this Council, members of Congress and community

          7  groups, why won't Nielsen submit the system to a

          8  full independent review?  Or have you agreed to do

          9  that?

         10                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Well, it's our

         11  position that we are submitting to a full

         12  independent review every year through the auspices

         13  of the Media Ratings Council, which is an outside

         14  organization who's audited us in the 1960s.  They

         15  hire on behalf of their members accounting firms.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  How long

         17  have they been auditing you?

         18                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Since the 1960s.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Wasn't

         20  there a newspaper article recently about that

         21  Council?  I will step it up shortly, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 So outside -- how long have you been

         23  using this service, auditing firm?

         24                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  The MRC hires

         25  accounting firms to do process audits.  For example,
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          2  our national People Meter service, which has homes

          3  in New York and has since 1987, has been audited

          4  every year and accredited every year.  In Boston

          5  where we put People Meters first in the top ten

          6  cities, that service has been audited each of the

          7  last two years and accredited.  We are in the

          8  process of being audited in each of the markets that

          9  we bring People Meters. So it's a regular process we

         10  go through and it's not new.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  The next

         12  question I had was regarding the June 3rd launching.

         13    This Council is still conducting hearings with

         14  respect to this issue.  I understand that the

         15  Congress, the United States Congress is asking for,

         16  certain members of the Congress are calling for a

         17  full investigation.  Don't you think it would be

         18  better if we waited until some of that took place as

         19  opposed to rolling this out on June 3rd?

         20                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Well, first of

         21  all, let me answer the first point, which is we're

         22  not aware of -- we certainly met with many members

         23  of Congress.  There were reports in the press that

         24  there was going to be a consideration in a letter to

         25  me of a GAO audit.  There is no GAO audit nor is
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          2  there a letter.  I'm not aware of other than the

          3  conversations we're having directly with

          4  representatives of a different investigation.  So

          5  we're certainly open to talking to anyone about that

          6  and that's all I've been doing for the last two

          7  months.

          8                 You will recall that a number of

          9  people in the community asked us to delay.  I think

         10  you were one of those who asked for a week, a month,

         11  something.  We did delay for two months this

         12  service.  So our feeling is if you look at the

         13  quality of the sample, of the concerns of the

         14  community, of the conversations that we've had, that

         15  we have answered those questions.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  I want to

         17  ask you specifically about the task force that

         18  Congressman Rangel announced.  Who's on the task

         19  force?  Who's the members?

         20                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  The first step is

         21  to have the co- Chairs appointed and that process is

         22  in process right now.  The two co- Chairs will be

         23  appointed and then the other members will follow by

         24  the co- Chairs.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  There's
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          2  no co Chairs of the task force?

          3                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  I think there are

          4  conversations going on with people right now.  But,

          5  no, they have not been announced yet.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  What's

          7  the purpose of the task force?  Can you tell me?

          8                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  I think it's

          9  fairly straightforward.  On a national basis to take

         10  prominent people in the industry and who represented

         11  the media and have interest in the media being

         12  represented well, to have them review Nielsen's

         13  procedures for including people of color in audience

         14  measurement and then to make recommendations.  And

         15  we're going to cooperate with that task force.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  So we

         17  don't know who the Chairman --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Excuse me, Council

         19  Member. This task force is being spearheaded by

         20  members of Congress?

         21                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Congressman

         22  Rangel, who we announced this with, is behind in

         23  organizing the task force.  And obviously, we're

         24  cooperating with him.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Who's responsible
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          2  for picking the Chairs and putting that forward?  Is

          3  that --

          4                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  We're working

          5  with Congressman Rangel on that.  Congressman Rangel

          6  is --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You would have

          8  some responsibility for trying to set a timetable

          9  that --

         10                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- Would not look

         12  to several of us as being delayed beyond some point

         13  of reasonableness.  This has now been going on --

         14  we've heard about this task force for two months, so

         15  I'm just trying to understand whose responsibility

         16  or role it is to put this task force together.  And

         17  if you don't have a role in that, then you don't

         18  have a role in it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         20  you, Mr. Chair, that was actually the follow up to

         21  my question.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  You're welcome.

         23                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  We're working

         24  with Congressman Rangel right now.  We all feel the

         25  urgency of getting the members appointed and you'll
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          2  hear about it as soon as they're appointed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Mr.

          4  Chair, may I continue?  Thank you.

          5                 I think that the Chairman hit the

          6  nail right on the head.  We've been talking about

          7  this for two months. It's been heavily reported.  In

          8  fact, you've taken the opportunity to ensure some of

          9  the press clippings were in part of your testimony

         10  which I'll address shortly.  But we've been talking

         11  about this for two months.  The Congressman

         12  announces the task force.  We don't know who the

         13  Chairs are, we don't know who the members are.

         14  Certainly, none of us have been invited to

         15  participate.  You're prepared to roll this out on

         16  June 3rd and I would think that the task force

         17  should be involved with analyzing what you're about

         18  to do before you do it.

         19                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  On April 8th or

         20  April 6th, I think, when I appeared with Congressman

         21  Rangel at a press conference to talk about our delay

         22  for two months, we said three things.  The first

         23  thing was that we were delaying for two months.  The

         24  second was that Congressman Rangel was going to

         25  coordinate a task force of national scope to look at
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          2  how we represent people of color going forward.  And

          3  the third was that we would cooperate with that task

          4  force.  That's still the case.  All of that's still

          5  true.  We are cooperating with him as he puts it

          6  together, but there are no more facts right now to

          7  present.

          8                 I think it's very urgent for us to

          9  get that task force together and get it out.  But

         10  that's where we stand.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  I agree

         12  with that, the sense of urgency, and, if I may

         13  offer, I would presume it would probably be a good

         14  thing for that task force to review the People

         15  Meters, the system that you're about to implement

         16  and roll out so that they can review it if we're

         17  really concerned about having participation on a

         18  national scope about communities of color.  You're

         19  about to implement this plan.  I think that some of

         20  those folks from this task force, at least as I

         21  understood it originally, this task force was

         22  actually going to sit down and review. In my earlier

         23  meetings with representatives from Nielsen, what I

         24  had offered also was to ensure that in particular

         25  here in the City of New York we can discuss it and
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          2  we can have a series of meetings so that you can

          3  make a presentation and that this data can in fact

          4  be analyzed so that if we have concerns they can be

          5  addressed and then perhaps if we are erroneous in

          6  what we think might or might not be happening, you

          7  can clarify it for us and then we don't have to have

          8  this type of adversarial relationship.

          9                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Well, we welcome

         10  any opportunity to sit down with you and talk about

         11  any of these issues.  So, if that's required, we'll

         12  do it now.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

         16  Barron.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  You know, I

         18  just think it's ridiculous that you can be so

         19  comfortable, you know, coming to us with what the

         20  white hierarchy and think that we supposed to sit

         21  here and trust all of your analysis and all of the

         22  conflicts and whether the "The Parkers" went down or

         23  up.  You say up.  You say overrepresentation. Others

         24  say in February it went down.  You come here with an

         25  all white organization.  I don't know whether you're
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          2  for profit or public interest.  And we supposed to

          3  sit here and trust you and then you have the nerve

          4  to not cancel June 3rd.  I mean, that shouldn't even

          5  be in question, whether that should go on because

          6  there's so much unanswered. There's so many

          7  conflicting reports and so much stuff that hasn't

          8  been reported.

          9                 Do you know the impact of what you

         10  say on black television programs?  I'm 53 years old.

         11    I don't know a person who had the paper or the

         12  meter.  I never met a person in my life, and I'm

         13  sure "Like It Is", programs like that, are well

         14  viewed.  But when we look at ratings and whether

         15  it's radio things from Arbitron, we never get

         16  ratings which means we don't get advertising, which

         17  means programs are often canceled.  This is very

         18  serious.  This is a very serious issue, and I just

         19  think the idea that you can be an organization,

         20  corporation, public interest group, whatever you

         21  are, and have all whites and just give us a letter

         22  and say, yes, it's all white, we'll work on it and

         23  see if something opens up, you know, maybe we'll try

         24  to get one of you in there or hire people to come

         25  and talk to us. You know, I am appalled by what's
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          2  going on with you.  And I'm appalled by the conflict

          3  in testimony.  I don't know what to believe.  You

          4  say we overrepresented?  We ain't never been

          5  overrepresented in anything since I've been on this

          6  planet, except for that.  We say we're

          7  underrepresented.  You say we're overrepresented.

          8  You know, I just don't get it.

          9                 I don't see how you can come before

         10  this Council with a serious issue like this and

         11  think we just going to sit here and patty- cake this

         12  whole process.  You'll just go ahead with the 3rd

         13  whether Rangel puts it together. He might, might not

         14  put it together.  That's -- whether this body

         15  finishes all of its work.  Our Chairman is doing an

         16  excellent job trying to bring this issue to fore and

         17  get all of the facts out.  June 3rd should be out of

         18  the question, number one.  That shouldn't even be an

         19  issue out of respect for the process and then I want

         20  to know, did "The Parkers" in February of 2004, did

         21   "The Parkers" go down or up according to the meter

         22  readings?  Did it go down or up?

         23                 MR. DONATO:  In February they went

         24  down.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  They went
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          2  down.

          3                 MR. DONATO:  They did.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  And that was

          5  through the People's Meter?

          6                 MR. DONATO:  That was -- compared to

          7   --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Right, right,

          9  right.

         10                 MR. DONATO:  -- Metered diaries it

         11  went down.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  When it got

         13  to the People's Meter it went down.

         14                 MR. DONATO:  That's correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  So there's no

         16   -- and then that has consequences.  Why did it go

         17  down?  You know, some of us question why that went

         18  down.  What happened in this process with this white

         19  group that got together and decided to do this?  How

         20  did "The Parkers" go down?  How did some of our

         21  other programs go down?  How did other white

         22  programs by this white group go up?  See, I just

         23  don't understand it.  I don't understand how that

         24  happens.

         25                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Being a research
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          2  company, I'd like to say first of all --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  So you're a

          4  research company?  Is it a for profit research

          5  company?

          6                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  I'd like to

          7  finish my fist sentence, which is, yes, we're a for

          8  profit company. We've been measuring television for

          9  over 50 years.  We have a very diverse company.

         10  We're --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Diverse

         12  company?

         13  You mean diverse?  What do you mean by diverse

         14  company?            It's just very difficult for me,

         15  Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I understand that,

         17  but I would appreciate if we give her an opportunity

         18  to answer the question.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I will, but

         20  with the stuff they say, you know, it's just very,

         21  very --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Ms. Whiting,

         23  please continue.

         24                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Thank you.  We

         25  had put out a paper with the facts around March

                                                            42

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  which answer a lot of the questions you've just

          3  raised.  For instance, why have some of the ratings

          4  changed, why did they go up for certain programs,

          5  why did they go down for certain programs.  We'll

          6  get you a copy of that.  It does explain it.

          7                 I think to summarize it, the first

          8  question anybody would have is do you have the

          9  appropriate people in your sample.  That's the first

         10  question.  What does your sample look like?  Does it

         11  represent the people of the community?  And then we

         12  have that audited.  And we feel that we do represent

         13  the people of the community.  It's not an easy -- so

         14  let me start there.

         15                 The second question is in terms of

         16  the ratings themselves and how they've changed.

         17  There have been programs, I think I read in my

         18  testimony that among African Americans in the New

         19  York market with the People Meters in March, 90

         20  channels showed increased ratings and 17 or 19 of

         21  them showed declining ratings.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  February to

         23  March.

         24                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Pardon?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  What happened
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          2  from February to March that made that big change

          3  come?

          4                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  No, we didn't

          5  produce the same analysis in March -- in February

          6  because we were still rolling out our sample size.

          7  We hit 800 households which is the sample size we

          8  wanted in March.  So the paper we produced to answer

          9  a lot of the questions that many people had about

         10  the ratings covered that period of time.  And if you

         11  haven't seen it, we'd love to sit down and go

         12  through it with you.  We'll make sure you have a

         13  copy.  And I think the facts, when I started by

         14  saying we're a research company, obviously we put a

         15  lot of facts out.  If they're not clear and people

         16  have questions about them, we welcome any

         17  opportunity to discuss them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Ms. Whiting, could

         19  you tell us any programs that would tend to have a

         20  theme that's either African- American or Latino that

         21  has actually gone up?

         22                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  There are a

         23  number of cable networks whose whole target are both

         24  African- American or Latino, like Telefutura,

         25  Telemundo, BET.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  You have

          3  specific programs that they might be able to better

          4  identify?

          5                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  The whole

          6  networks have gone up.  All the programming on the

          7  network has gone up in ratings.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What level have

          9  they gone up by?

         10                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  BET, for example,

         11  sent out its own press release saying that its

         12  ratings had gone up 180%.  There were other cases

         13  where they've doubled.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Their ratings on

         15  your system, is that what you're saying?

         16                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  I think right

         17  here I said among African- American viewers, total

         18  day viewing for BET is up 180%.  Likewise, African-

         19  American viewing has increased more than 100% for a

         20  diverse range of other networks including ESPN,

         21  Lifetime Movie Network, Telefutura, Pax and Starz.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Mr. Chairman,

         23  I just want to say that I think that we really, they

         24  really should cancel June 3rd because we've really

         25  got to probe this information that we're getting
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          2  from this white corporation on viewership and black

          3  and Latino.  You know, I really think that the

          4  Council out of respect for this Committee, out of

          5  respect for the stuff that still has to happen --

          6  did you meet with Reverend Sharpton in the National

          7  Action Network?

          8                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  I have met with

          9  Reverend Sharpton.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  And you met

         11  with Rangel.  You're meeting with  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I'm sorry, you

         13  said you have?

         14                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Yes, I have.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Have you met with

         16  any other members of the clergy?

         17                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Okay, thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Did you meet

         20  with them before or after they demonstrated?

         21                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  I met with him 45

         22  minutes before they demonstrated.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Forty- five

         24  minutes before they demonstrated?

         25                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Yes.  Because the
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          2  demonstration was called as soon as the meeting was

          3  over.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Well, they

          5  don't call demonstrations right -- it doesn't work

          6  like that, but -- it does not work like that.  I

          7  know how demonstrations work. They don't call them

          8  after the meeting.

          9                 This is what I'm trying to say.  You

         10  know, this kind of stuff, people are having to

         11  demonstrate and do all kinds of things to really get

         12  to the truth of what's really going on.  And if we

         13  want to impact some real change, Mr. Chairman, we

         14  have to get this group to cancel June 3rd and really

         15  continue the process so that we can really get to

         16  the bottom of this.

         17                 Thank you for your patience, Mr.

         18  Chairman.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  I am

         20  going to take the prerogative of the Chair.  There

         21  are a few other questions.  We need to hear from the

         22  activists and we are still trying to have time to

         23  hear the discussion.

         24                 Is it my understanding, Ms. Whiting,

         25  that no matter what this Council does today, that
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          2  the Nielsens are going to begin using their Local

          3  People Meters?  And as you said to me last week --

          4  let me rephrase it perhaps.

          5                 In our meeting last week you told me

          6  that right now that Nielsen is using both systems

          7  parallel. Correct?

          8                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And that the Local

         10  People Meters are installed in these homes.  But

         11  when you say begin using it, actually what you mean

         12  is to begin using it by giving the statistics, the

         13  information, to the advertisers and to the networks

         14  given the ratings that you have.  You've accumulated

         15  the ratings.  You're just not distributing them at

         16  the moment, is that right?

         17                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Actually, we're

         18  distributing both sets of information and have been

         19  as we've produced them all along to the advertisers

         20  and to the media companies.  And that's how they're

         21  making the comparisons of their ratings.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  What would

         23  launching on June 3rd mean?

         24                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  What that means

         25  is that the official ratings for the marketplace for
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          2  the buyers and sellers of the advertising to use

          3  would be the People Meter service.  That's what it

          4  means because right now they're looking at both but

          5  they're using the current meter diary system.  So

          6  the buyer, the programmers, the agencies decide that

          7  the official numbers they agree on for advertising

          8  are the People Meter.  That's what launching on June

          9  3rd means. Eventually what it means is that we don't

         10  have to run two parallel samples and the old one

         11  goes away.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  In the market that

         13  you have now, you have it existing in what cities?

         14                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  The People Meter

         15  service is our national service, so that's how all

         16  the national programming is done, a national

         17  Hispanic panel, which means it hits all the major

         18  cities.  For instance, there are 300 households from

         19  our national service that fall in New York, who've

         20  been using People Meters in New York.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Maybe you didn't

         22  understand me.  I'm sorry.

         23                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Boston is up and

         24  operating and has been for two years.  This year the

         25  launch plan is New York, Los Angeles, Chicago and
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          2  San Francisco.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So other than

          4  Boston, there's no other major metropolitan area

          5  where you have this system in place?

          6                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  We actually have

          7  installed the samples in Los Angeles and in,

          8  starting in Chicago.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Boston is the only

         10  city where you're --

         11                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- Actually using

         13  those statistics.  And have you had protest in

         14  Massachusetts or Boston from the communities of

         15  color in the sense that they're being undercounted?

         16                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  No.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  But that's still

         18  the only city that you've had this?

         19                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  We've had -- I

         20  guess I'm not making myself clear.  I apologize.  We

         21  have homes in Los Angeles, Chicago and New York and

         22  other places from our national People Meter panel

         23  who've used that technology as part of the national

         24  panel since 1987.  So there are 300 households in

         25  New York right now who are contributing to national
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          2  ratings.  And we also have the panel we've installed

          3  of 800 households.  So it's not new.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  The last question

          5  that I really, I think in a different direction,

          6  that we are, certainly I'm interested in, it is my

          7  understanding the reports that the Fox Network has

          8  been instrumental in organizing protests against the

          9  Nielsens and this LPM system.  Can you comment on

         10  that?

         11                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  I think there

         12  have been many articles covering the situation and

         13  the campaign.  And it has been a campaign waged

         14  against the People Meter service.  There have been

         15  press releases by Fox.  There have been articles

         16  that cover the people that they've hired.  I think

         17  they speak for themselves.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, they may

         19  speak for themselves but they're not here to do

         20  that.  So are you alleging, are you supporting the

         21  allegations that Fox Network was dissatisfied with

         22  the ratings on their shows using this new

         23  methodology and that they are in fact bankrolling,

         24  financing, supporting, coordinating the efforts

         25  within the communities of color to perhaps undermine
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          2  the legitimacy of this new system?

          3                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Fox TV stations,

          4  I'll separate that from the network, has been very

          5  public in their displeasure of our People Meter.

          6  Loughlin Murdoch has issued press releases

          7  criticizing the People Meter service.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And you want to

          9  tell us, for the record, who Loughlin Murdoch is?

         10                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Loughlin Murdoch

         11  who is the son of Rupert Murdoch who heads News

         12  Corp., runs the TV station business, "The Post", et

         13  cetera.  He has been very public in his displeasure.

         14    We were told directly that they would basically do

         15  what they needed to do to discredit this service.

         16  And I separate that and their very public

         17  displeasure in the fact that they definitely are

         18  paying for some of the support because many clients

         19  have told me that, from the fact that people have

         20  legitimate concerns about what we're doing.  Those

         21  are two different things.  But there is no question

         22  based on the press accounts, the personal

         23  conversations, the press releases they've put out,

         24  that they are supporting a campaign against People

         25  Meters because of their concern about their ratings
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          2  for their TV stations.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And there is no

          4  action that this Council or this Committee of the

          5  Council could take today that would delay your

          6  launching of this on June 3rd?

          7                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  I think that what

          8  we're trying to do is look at the measurement system

          9  and the accuracy of the measurement system and say

         10  do we have a more accurate system going froward than

         11  the current one, and we believe that the People

         12  Meter service is more accurate than the current

         13  system.  And for the 80 channels and 90 channels who

         14  show increased viewing, the fair and right thing is

         15  to move ahead as long as we're satisfied that we're

         16  representing people in the sample and that the

         17  metrics that we use to measure that are appropriate

         18  and we have a better sample with higher cooperation,

         19  with more representation, with more accurate

         20  information and more channels with People Meters.

         21  So we feel, based on all of that, we should move

         22  ahead on June 3rd and that we delayed for two months

         23  because it was the responsible, respectful thing to

         24  do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very
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          2  much for you testimony.

          3                 PRESIDENT WHITING:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We are going to

          5  try to hear from the activists on this issue.  We

          6  may have to reword our resolution to --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Can I

          8  make a statement regarding Ms. Whiting's

          9  presentation here today?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Well, you can do

         11  that in just a moment.  I want to introduce Council

         12  Member John Liu from Queens who has joined us.  I

         13  want to ask Lorraine Cortes- Vazquez -- she here?

         14  And Reverend Jacques DeGraff and Richard Willis to

         15  come forward.  And while you are doing that, as

         16  quietly and as quickly as you can, Council Member

         17  Monserrate would like to make a statement.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         19  you, Mr. Chair.  She has since left the room.  I

         20  would have loved her to have heard this.           I

         21  had a series of questions that unfortunately I

         22  wasn't able to ask regarding the technology and the

         23  methodology.

         24                 I just want to say that included in

         25  the testimony presented by Ms. Whiting and Nielsen
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          2  today, there are several news articles attached.

          3  And I just want to give you a quick review of some

          4  of those statements that are made in these articles.

          5    One is that we are a coalition of grievant

          6  specialists.  Reverend Al Sharpton and the Don't

          7  Count Us Out coalition is a paragon of racial

          8  liberalism, that Rupert Murdoch is the puppet master

          9  of elected officials and minority activists.  This

         10  is what's included in the testimony presented today.

         11    And I have to tell you that I'm a bit offended by

         12  this.  I'm not a puppet --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  That's a statement

         14  by who?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  No, these

         16  are attached articles that are in today's testimony.

         17    They've attached these type of innuendos and these

         18  type of remarks.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Who has attached

         20  them? I'm just trying to make sure the record

         21  understands what your point is, Council Member.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  The

         23  Nielsen Company today, Susan Whiting's testimony,

         24  attached to this are several news stories that they

         25  have taken liberty to attach.  And here we're a
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          2  coalition of grievant specialists, makes remarks

          3  about paragon of racial liberalism, that we are

          4  puppets for Mr. Murdoch.  I take offense to that.  I

          5  don't know Mr. Murdoch.  I never spoke to Mr.

          6  Murdoch. Don't know anything about Mr. Murdoch other

          7  than I know that he's a very rich man.  And for this

          8  to be even attached to their official testimony

          9  which they're submitting to this Committee, I think

         10  really speaks to the deep rooted problem and the

         11  disconnect.

         12                 Many of the issues that my colleague,

         13  Charles Barron -- the fact that they weren't even

         14  put on the table of holding back June 3rd, the fact

         15  that this task force that was originally supposed to

         16  be convened is window dressing and a farce.  It

         17  hasn't been established yet.  There's no Chairman.

         18  There's no mandate.  They have nothing to do.

         19  They're going to go ahead and roll this out.  And

         20  what they're basically saying to our communities, it

         21  doesn't matter if you're opposed, it doesn't matter

         22  if your representation has concerns, it doesn't

         23  matter we have an entirely all white executive board

         24  in our company and we're just doing what we want to

         25  do.  And then they want to say that we're
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          2  overrepresented.  I think it's insulting.

          3                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I very well might

          5  support all of what you just said, Council Member,

          6  and I apologize if you have a sense that the Chair

          7  had to be brief in this. You know, as well as I do,

          8  that we were not expecting today to have to make

          9  some budget decisions and I know we're all anxious

         10  to get back to our delegation.  At the same time,

         11  we've invited people here.  So I'm trying to do both

         12  things. You know, I'm concerned that while I'm Chair

         13   -- see, you guys get to leave, I'm sitting here.

         14  So I'm not sure if they're cutting up East Harlem

         15  while I'm sitting here in the room.  I want to make

         16  sure my district is well protected in the budget

         17  negotiations.  So I appreciate it.  My district has

         18  been helpful in balancing the budget.  I see.  Thank

         19  you, Council Member Liu.

         20                 So we are going to take some

         21  testimony from you folks.  Please make it relevant

         22  to the comments that we heard today.  We know the

         23  concern that your coalition has. So I would say to

         24  you respectfully, you don't need to tell us that.  I

         25  think it's been expressed by my colleagues. Your
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          2  testimony needs to focus on where you'd like us to

          3  go now and if you have something to say as it

          4  relates to what Ms. Whiting testified to.  And I

          5  don't mean to be that rude, but I could be with this

          6  gavel.  Okay?  Thank you.

          7                 In whatever order you'd like to,

          8  please begin.

          9                 REVEREND DeGRAFF:  Mr. Chairman,

         10  thank you. Members of the City Council and this

         11  Committee, my name is Reverend Jacques DeGraff from

         12  Harlem's historic Canaan Baptist Church.

         13                 We've been here throughout the

         14  testimony today for the Nielsen and we came today

         15  seeking those elusive siblings, fairness and

         16  justice.  They're still elusive.  We have been

         17  meeting for weeks, this coalition that you

         18  referenced, Mr. Chairman, for weeks and months,

         19  seeking answers and solutions and they haven't been

         20  forthcoming.  Yes, we have been in meetings, but

         21  there's a difference between a meeting and a

         22  presentation.  That is when someone talks to you but

         23  doesn't listen.  And when we see what we've seen

         24  today, and no response to things that we have put on

         25  the table -- we put together a memorandum of
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          2  understanding so that we might work with the Nielsen

          3  Research Company to effect some positive changes

          4  that had credibility.  The memorandum of

          5  understanding was rejected.             We have

          6  waited and asked to participate in a task force that

          7  has not met, that has no Chairs, that the Chair --

          8  that Ms. Whiting today described as urgent but has

          9  not come together in over two months.  And so, we

         10  think the issue is not data but credibility, and so

         11  we have come today, once again, to petition before

         12  this Committee to do whatever is within your power

         13  to delay this rollout on June 3rd.  Why the rush to

         14  judgment?

         15                 We know how important ratings are.

         16  Last night the President of the United States gave

         17  an address that was not carried on the major

         18  networks and the reason that was given, at least off

         19  the record, was that it was because of the ratings

         20  sweep in May.  That's how important the ratings are.

         21    If it's important to them, it's important to us.

         22                 And so we come today to re- emphasize

         23  that which we've said before and to underscore again

         24  the chasm that now exists.  We want the rollout

         25  delayed again till the fall.  We want a memorandum
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          2  of understanding.  If the task force, which was

          3  their creation, is not to exist, we want a

          4  meaningful relationship and participation with this

          5  new measurement technology and methodology.  We do

          6  not buy into MRC and their credibility.  We want an

          7  independent audit of Nielsen and so we are

          8  continuing to push for that.

          9                 But most of all, we really believe

         10  that this is about accountability for a monopoly in

         11  an industry that seems unanswerable to anyone.

         12                 While we recognize that Susan Whiting

         13  is not "Bull" Connor, we also recognize that this is

         14  about economic justice and that's why we're here.

         15  The decisions that are made and the information that

         16  is provided, the characterization of that

         17  information we leave to others. But that information

         18  results in all kinds of decisions that have

         19  tremendous impact on people and on our culture, and

         20  we are not going to sit idly by while decisions are

         21  made as though we are not present in the room  This

         22  coalition has existed for months.  It comes from

         23  across the City and around the tri- state area and

         24  we continue to hold Nielsen accountable to say that

         25  these demands must be met.  And they are demands.
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          2  We're not going to go away.  We are not going to be

          3  ignored.  We've changed public policy in the past

          4  and we intend to stay until this company and these

          5  individuals are held accountable.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Let me say two

          7  things. One, I've asked the Sergeant- at- Arms, and

          8  please don't take offense to this, but to use our

          9  clock for testimony of three minutes just because we

         10  really do need to move along.

         11                 As the Chair, I'm going to ask the

         12  sponsor of this resolution to re- examine it and

         13  perhaps to reword it. It's clear to me that it

         14  wouldn't matter what we did here today, that Nielsen

         15  is going to, as they say, launch this system.  I do

         16  think that there needs to be more examination of the

         17  results of this, and so we will continue to have

         18  testimony.  But more importantly, we will be re-

         19  examining this again here and looking perhaps to

         20  pass legislation not just requesting them to stop

         21  but denouncing it using whatever language we feel is

         22  appropriate and in what strength is required.  If

         23  this is the media, major media market in the

         24  country, I think that having this legislative body

         25  that represents the people that they are saying they
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          2      want to sell their stuff to, say that we're not

          3  going to use that standard, I think that will have

          4  some impact.

          5                 So I just want you to understand that

          6  if we're not able to hear all the testimony today,

          7  that we are going to continue to examine this

          8  because this resolution would be irrelevant unless

          9  we change it because they're going to say we're

         10  going to launch it.  So I think Council Member

         11  Monserrate understands my point.

         12                 So I'd like to hear from one of your

         13  other colleagues at the moment.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON: Excuse me, Mr.

         15  Chair. I've got to be excused to go to my budget.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes, I understand.

         17    And the other point is I don't have a quorum,

         18  frankly, to vote on the resolution.  So I'm trying

         19  to work, Reverend DeGraff, under some difficult

         20  circumstances here today.  Please, sir.

         21                 MR. WILLIS:  Okay.  Hi.  I'm Richard

         22  Willis, Jr. And I'm CEO and Executive Producer of

         23  Moselle Entertainment Group, an independent

         24  production company here in the City, and a member of

         25  100 Black Men.  I'll skip my presentation and get
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          2  right to addressing the points.

          3                 In conceptualizing what you're

          4  hearing from Nielsen about the meetings and the

          5  conversations that they're having with all of us,

          6  let me say that the conversations are brief, that

          7  the point and the conclusion is already made, as a

          8  personal participator in one of those conversations.

          9    And essentially for a few minutes we're shown the

         10  technology and then basically part of a conversation

         11  where the conclusion is already drawn.

         12                 And also add that in the presentation

         13  made by Nielsen, the statement was made that it was

         14  well known and widely supported in the television

         15  industry, the rollout of the LPM.  I am a member of

         16  the television industry and I can verify that is

         17  true, however, the timetable that we were given to

         18  understand the technology was at least nine months

         19  to a year.  The community has been given so far

         20  seven weeks, so there's a vast difference in an

         21  effort to educate and inform the people who are

         22  going to be part of the technology.

         23                 I might also add in the presentation

         24  there was a comment that it was about the

         25  methodology and the technology.  Our question
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          2  continues to be to them, how is the instruction

          3  given on the use of the People Meter, how are the

          4  families selected, how is the sample selected and

          5  maintained throughout the two- year process, and how

          6  does that relate versus the technology.  So again,

          7  the transparency that we've been asking for in our

          8  memo of understanding has been ignored.

          9                 Finally, I would say that as they

         10  indicated, there's been a three- month simultaneous

         11  measurement by the LMP and the diary system.  It is

         12  clear that that might not be long enough.  Fifty

         13  years from now they may come back and say this

         14  system was inaccurate, as 50 years later we're

         15  saying the current system is inaccurate.

         16                 So clearly, our goal on the coalition

         17  and 100 Black Men and in our community is to be

         18  consistent with New York as a place of understanding

         19  and understanding culture.

         20                 Now, I want to take it one more place

         21  that has not been discussed by Nielsen or anybody

         22  else during this argument, and that's right to what

         23  you're talking about today, your budget and your tax

         24  base.

         25                 New York City is the only
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          2  metropolitan community in the United States where

          3  the independent producer, television producer, is a

          4  vital and economic force in the City.  That doesn't

          5  happen in Los Angeles because it's a studio system.

          6  There is no such community in Boston. But in New

          7  York it is vital.  "Like It Is" is a directly sold

          8  program to the New York market.  The type of shows

          9  that I do, I won an Emmy in 2001.  We won the

         10  Peabody in 2003 by money developed in New York,

         11  creating a program and selling it directly to a

         12  local television station and having it broadcast.

         13  These numbers are critical and vital to our ability

         14  to be able to do that and also to our ability to

         15  have that community continue to exist financially in

         16  New York City.  Think of it the same way you think

         17  of the Broadway community where it's the only place

         18  in the world where the theater actually provides a

         19  living to a group of people.

         20                 So that's right in the pocket, that's

         21  right where we all are.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I think you

         23  certainly made, or at least in the testimony I've

         24  heard, the clearest case for what is the

         25  significance of this and it's certainly not lost on
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          2  the Chair or the Committee, Mr. Willis.  I

          3  appreciate that very much.  I'm not trying to make

          4  light of this issue at all today and I think

          5  particularly as you talked about employment here in

          6  New York City and as we're looking at a $48 billion

          7  expense budget and lack of services and we wouldn't

          8  need services if we had jobs.  Thank you for your

          9  testimony.

         10                 Ms. Cortes.  Welcome.

         11                 PRESIDENT CORTES- VAZQUEZ:  I would

         12  like to address three issues.  Number one is we are

         13  calling for an independent audit.  And precisely --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I'm sorry.  Do me

         15  just a favor for the record, Lorraine.

         16                 PRESIDENT CORTES- VAZQUEZ:  Right.

         17  Lorraine. Okay.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Introduce

         19  yourself.

         20                 PRESIDENT CORTES- VAZQUEZ:  Lorraine

         21   -- I'm sorry.  I make lots of assumptions about

         22  this.

         23                 Lorraine Cortes- Vazquez, President

         24  and CEO of the Hispanic Federation.

         25                 What we're asking for is an
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          2  independent audit precisely because of this major

          3  shift in numbers between the February numbers and

          4  the March numbers.  And if there's no way that they

          5  could be adequately explained, that means that we

          6  need to really look at these two systems and see

          7  what are those differences as a community

          8  representative, particularly someone who is so

          9  greatly affected by these ratings.  So what our

         10  concern is that we have not gotten an adequate

         11  explanation.  We've been told what the differences

         12  are but we have not been told what the causes are of

         13  those figures.

         14                 The other thing that was very

         15  startling in terms of the March numbers was the

         16  fault rates.  When you look a the number of

         17  families, African- American, black and Latino

         18  families that were not viewing television at all who

         19  were part of the sample, there's no way.  We need to

         20  start studying what are the fault rates, you know,

         21  why are Latinos and blacks, so few that are part of

         22  the sample.  If such a great number of them are not

         23  participating in it, is that really an adequate

         24  representation.

         25                 The other issue for us is of course

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  one of the conversations we had with Nielsen, and I

          3  have to say I can see that they've been moving in

          4  the direction of listening to what we have to say.

          5  But my concern is listening is one thing and that's

          6  a very good first step, but what are the processes

          7  you're going to put in place to address some of our

          8  concerns.  For example, Nielsen did not have a way

          9  of capturing Latinos who viewed English programming

         10  who then chose to put the Spanish translation

         11  services, the SAP.  They were not able to adequately

         12  talk about what percentage of the population did

         13  that or have no way of accounting for that.  That is

         14  something that we hope that they really will look

         15  into because that, again, means dollars, either

         16  directed or redirected from our community.

         17                 The other issue for us is, and I have

         18  to tell you that what I've had problems with this

         19  from the very beginning is sample size.  I was very

         20  concerned when I heard about a sample of 500 for

         21  what I thought and I did not get it clearly

         22  understood till today, that it was outside the five

         23  boroughs.  If we're talking about 28 counties and in

         24  those 28 counties we're talking about 144 Latino

         25  families, because that's the number that we were

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  told, that number seems extremely low given the fact

          3  that we need to, and I believe the same would be

          4  true for the Asian- American population, given the

          5  fact that you need to talk about language spoken,

          6  whether it's Spanish propensity, English dominance.

          7  And how is it that you can have those levels of

          8  gradation within such a small number, within 44

          9  counties really baffles me.  So I don't know how

         10  they can feel -- it really causes some great

         11  concern.

         12                 The Hispanic Federation does a survey

         13  every year talking about quality of life and issues

         14  that are important to us and we serve a thousand, we

         15  interview a 1,200 people and that includes New York,

         16  the five counties of New York, two counties in Long

         17  Island, one county in Westchester.  And if in that

         18  small area, so that we can have a good degree of

         19  confidence in our data we have that large a number,

         20  I get very concerned when I'm talking about 144

         21  households for 28 counties.

         22                 We're asking for a delay.  The most

         23  important thing for us is sampling size, looking at

         24  the issues in terms of language and, most

         25  importantly, the independent audit so that we can
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          2  have confidence in that system.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Council Member

          4  Monserrate, do you have a question?  Council Member

          5  Stewart is a member of the Committee and has joined

          6  us.  Thank you.

          7                 Would you both -- I've heard what you

          8  would like.  Is that, has what Ms. Cortes- Vazquez

          9  said, is that summed up what you would like --

         10                 MR. WILLIS:  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- From us or from

         12  the Nielsens and through us in this Committee to get

         13  that information?

         14                 MR. WILLIS:  Our delay request is

         15  very specific.  We asked for December 1st because

         16  that would allow two additional sweeps period, July

         17  and November, and then you could weigh three sweeps

         18  periods of data and that should allow some sense of

         19  more accuracy.  It wasn't even that we thought it

         20  should just be delayed indefinitely, but we have a

         21  period of time in mind and that was in the letter of

         22  understanding and we did request it.

         23                 REVEREND DeGRAFF:  There's one other

         24  dimension, and that dimension is involvement with

         25  the company and the community, whether it's a task
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          2  force or memorandum of understanding.  They're

          3  currently unengaged and at this point we don't know

          4  what their plans are for the future.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Reverend, could

          6  you share the proposed memorandum of understanding

          7  with the Committee? You may not have it today but

          8  you could provide it to us?

          9                 REVEREND DeGRAFF:  Yes.  Yes, we can.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  I'm

         11  going to stop this part of the hearing.  I think

         12  you've all asked some compelling questions.  The

         13  thing that comes to my mind, however, is that I

         14  think we are potentially dealing with flawed

         15  analysis going back years ago.  I don't think

         16  anybody necessarily thinks that the diary was

         17  accurate.  So that -- but nobody ever challenged

         18  that.  I think we've all been concerned as African-

         19  Americans and Latinos and I think, you know, many

         20  people in the broader society are also concerned

         21  about the racism in the industry.  So you don't have

         22  to be African- American or Asian or Latino to be

         23  concerned legitimately about that issue.  I think

         24  this now has raised so many other issues that we are

         25  trying to tackle and I want to give it the proper
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          2  time.  I'd like to see that memorandum of

          3  understanding.  We will refocus ourselves.

          4                 I apologize to the people who are not

          5  able to testify.  We scheduled this today because I

          6  assumed that there would be meetings of the task

          7  force to have come to some conclusion.  I was given

          8  reason to believe that because of their June 3rd

          9  date and we felt that we would have some rather

         10  quick resolution.  It seems to me that just more

         11  problems have come up than have been resolved.  So I

         12  apologize to those people who were expecting a vote,

         13  who thought they'd have a chance to testify but we

         14  will continue to examine this and certainly from the

         15  compelling questions. You put forth some questions

         16  that need to be answered.  I can't answer them.  We

         17  will certainly get those questions to not only the

         18  Nielsens but to members of Congress who've been

         19  identified as the leaders of this task force and try

         20  to pursue that and see what is happening with that.

         21                 MR. WILLIS:  Mr. Chairman, if I could

         22  just add, there is $2 billion at stake in terms of

         23  the amount of money that New York alone, the New

         24  York advertising community spends on television.  $2

         25  billion at stake.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.  Thank

          3  you all very much.

          4                 Anybody who has a written statement

          5  can certainly submit that to the Council.  I will,

          6  we will at our next hearing, if you've come to

          7  testify today, we will allow you to testify first.

          8  I apologize.  Just a minute, Mr. Alter.  Again, I

          9  apologize.  If it relates to the Nielsens, if you

         10  have testimony written that you want to submit to

         11  us, we will take a look at it.  Those of you who

         12  have come to testify, who will be here at the next

         13  hearing, I assure you, you will be -- can I get some

         14  quiet in here -- you will be asked to testify first.

         15  Thank you.

         16                 (The following testimony by George W.

         17  Ivie, CEO and Executive Director of Media Rating

         18  Council, Inc. Is read into the record as follows:

         19                 We appreciate your invitation to

         20  speak to the New York City Council today.  To

         21  provide additional background to our oral remarks,

         22  we have prepared the following letter introducing

         23  the Media Rating Council (MRC).

         24                 The MRC is a non- profit organization

         25  that conducts thorough external audits of Nielsen
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          2  Media Research fulfilling a media- industry self-

          3  regulation role established in 1964 at the behest of

          4  the U.S. Congress.

          5                 To facilitate your review, this

          6  letter is organized into four sections as follows:

          7                 1.  History and Mission of the MRC.

          8                 2.  The MRC Audit and Accreditation

          9  Process.

         10                 3.  Status of Nielsen Medial Research

         11  Audits.

         12                 4.  Recent Publicity Surrounding

         13  Nielsen's Measurements.

         14                 Additionally, attached for your

         15  reference are three background documents on the MRC:

         16                 Appendix A- The Minimum Standards for

         17  Medial Rating Research.

         18                 Appendix B- Member Organizations.

         19                 Appendix C- Services Audited and

         20  Accredited as of November 2003.

         21                 We hope you find this information

         22  useful in considering your future interactions with

         23  Nielsen Media Research, and we stand ready to answer

         24  any questions you have about this letter, the

         25  attached information or the activities of the MRC.
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          2                 History and Mission of the MRC.

          3  During 1963 and 1964, regulation of the TV and radio

          4  industries including the purpose and accuracy of

          5  audience research were the subjects of extensive

          6  public hearings.  This process culminated with a

          7  progress report issued to the 89th Congress of the

          8  U.S. (House Report No. 1212) in January 1966.  These

          9  hearings were held by a Special Subcommittee on

         10  investigations.

         11                 After investigation and extensive

         12  testimony, the House Committee determined that

         13  industry self regulation, including independent

         14  audits of rating services (such as Nielsen Media

         15  Research) was preferable to government intervention.

         16    On page 21 of the House Report, the Committee

         17  concluded as follows:  "The enactment, at this time,

         18  of legislation providing for government regulation

         19  of broadcast audience measurement activities is not

         20  advisable. The Administration of a statute providing

         21  for such regulation would plan an unnecessary burden

         22  on the Federal Government, and it is doubtful that

         23  more would be accomplished than can be accomplished

         24  by effective industry regulation."

         25                 The Harris Committee hearings
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          2  resulted in the formation of an industry- funded

          3  organization to review and accredit audience rating

          4  services called the Broadcast Rating Council (now

          5  referred to as the MRC).  At hat time, the Broadcast

          6  Rating Council's proposed industry self regulation

          7  procedures were reviewed by the U.S. Justice

          8  Department.

          9                 Aligned with the actions deemed

         10  necessary by the House Committee, the activities of

         11  the MRC include the following:

         12                 The establishment and administration

         13  of Minimum Standards for rating operations, the

         14  accreditation of rating services on the basis of

         15  information submitted by such services, and

         16  auditing, through independent CPA firms. Of the

         17  activities of the rating services.

         18                 The bylaws of the MRC document the

         19  organization's mission as:  "to secure for the media

         20  industry and related users audience measurement

         21  services that are valid, reliable and effective; to

         22  evolve and determine minimum disclosure and ethical

         23  criteria for media audience measurement services;

         24  and to provide and administer an audit system

         25  designed to inform users as to whether such audience
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          2  measurements are conducted in conformance with the

          3  criteria and procedures developed."  This mission

          4  was established with the support of the House

          5  Committee.

          6                 The Minimum Standards for Media

          7  Rating Research became effective March 31, 1964, and

          8  have been maintained and updated by the MRC Board of

          9  Directors.  The standards relate to:  (a) ethics and

         10  operations, and (b) disclosures.  Ethical and

         11  Operational Standards govern the quality and

         12  integrity of the entire process by which ratings are

         13  produced.  Disclosure Standards specify the detailed

         14  information about a rating services's methodology

         15  and each specific survey which must be made

         16  available to users, the MRC and its CPA firm, as

         17  well as the form in which the information should be

         18  made available.  A copy of the Minimum Standards for

         19  Media Rating Research is attached as Appendix A.

         20                 Individual rating services apply for

         21  MRC Accreditation on a voluntary basis; although

         22  Nielsen Media Research agreed to the audit with the

         23  U.S. Congress at the time of the House Committee

         24  hearings.  Accreditation is granted by the MRC Board

         25  of Directors if a rating service complies with the
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          2  MRC's Minimum Standards for Media Research and makes

          3  materially complete methodological and survey

          4  performance disclosures to their customers.

          5                 The Board of Directors of the MRC is

          6  comprised of one appointed representative, generally

          7  a top media research executive, for each member

          8  organization. Currently there are approximately 80

          9  Board members in total representing TV and radio

         10  broadcasting, cable, print, internet and advertising

         11  agency organizations as well as advertisers and

         12  other trade associations.  Additionally, we have a

         13  provision for formal liaison relationships with the

         14  American Association of Advertising Agencies, the

         15  Advertising Research Foundation and the Association

         16  of National Advertisers.  Membership is open to any

         17  media organization that relies on or uses media

         18  research and ethnic media organizations (e.g.,

         19  Telemundo or Univision). Organizations such as

         20  Nielsen, that provide media ratings, are not allowed

         21  to be members.  A list of MRC member organizations

         22  is attached as Appendix B.

         23                 The specific methodological approach

         24  of the rating service and the Minimum Standards for

         25  Medial Rating Research are the primary drivers of
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          2  the audit scope for each participating rating

          3  service to be executed by the CPA firm on behalf of

          4  the MRC.  Audits are required to be conducted at

          5  least annually.  The MRC establishes an audit

          6  committee made up of member organizations that use

          7  research of that media- type to evaluate audit

          8  results and recommend Accreditation to the Executive

          9  Director of the MRC, who the submits such

         10  recommendation to the MRC Board of Directors.

         11  Provision is also made for the suspension or

         12  withdrawal of an accreditation and a documented,

         13  formal hearing procedure applies in such instances.

         14                 The audit committees established for

         15  the various MRC- audited Nielsen Media Research

         16  products include almost 50 organizations from all

         17  segments of our membership representing a

         18  significant portion of Nielsen's business.

         19                 A list of rating services accredited

         20  by the MRC or in the audit process (including the

         21  specific products involved- for example, all the

         22  specific products accredited for Nielsen Media

         23  Research) is attached as Appendix C.

         24                 The MRC Audit and Accreditation

         25  Process.  The central element in the monitoring
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          2  activity of the MRC is its system of annual external

          3  audits of rating service operations.  MRC audits

          4  serve these important functions:

          5                 They determine whether a rating

          6  service merits accreditation (or continued

          7  accreditation); the audit report and related insight

          8  provided by the CPA firm is the primary input into

          9  the accreditation decision.

         10                 They provide the MRC with the results

         11  of detailed examinations by CPA auditors which

         12  become the basis for quality improvements in the

         13  service, either by voluntary action or mandated by

         14  MRC as a condition for accreditation, and they

         15  provide a highly beneficial psychological effect on

         16  rating service performance.  Knowledge that their

         17  work may be reviewed by CPA auditors is a powerful

         18  spur for quality work by all field and home- office

         19  personnel of the rating service.

         20                 The MRC has used several nationally

         21  known CPA firms throughout the years to perform

         22  these audits.  At present, the audits are conducted

         23  by Ernst & Young under contract to the MRC.

         24                 The MRC has used several nationally

         25  known CPA firms throughout the years to perform
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          2  these audits.  At present, the audits are conducted

          3  by Ernst & Young, under contract to the MRC.  Each

          4  rating service agrees to pay MRC assessments to

          5  cover their audit cost.  The MRC collects no funds

          6  from rating services other than the direct cost of

          7  personnel who have responsibility for auditing

          8  rating service operations and assessing compliance

          9  with the MRC's unique standards.

         10                 Nielsen Media Research has submitted

         11  to the MRC audit process for multiple products since

         12  1964.

         13                 The MRC's audit includes an

         14  independent, detailed and objective examination of

         15  each significant aspect of the operations of a

         16  rating service.  In the event that a rating service

         17  uses outside professional vendors (for example, for

         18  sampling procedures or for editing and tabulation of

         19  data), these sources are also audited and reported

         20  upon.

         21                 Resulting audit reports are very

         22  detailed (typically 150- 300 pages), containing many

         23  methodological and proprietary details of the rating

         24  service and illumination of the primary strengths

         25  and weaknesses of its operations.  The reports are
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          2  confidential among the MRC members, who all sign

          3  non- disclosure agreements, Ernst & Young and the

          4  rating service.  Audit reports include detailed

          5  testing and findings for: Sample design, selection

          6  and recruitment, sample composition by demographic

          7  group, data collection and fieldwork, metering,

          8  diary or interviewing accuracy, editing and

          9  tabulation procedures, data processing, ratings

         10  calculations and assessment of rating service

         11  disclosures of methodology and survey performance.

         12                 Pursuant to the last bullet above,

         13  the MRC mandates rating services to disclose many

         14  methodology and performance measures, which would be

         15  otherwise unknown.  For example, source of sample

         16  frame, selection method, respondents by demographic

         17  group versus population, response rates, existence

         18  of special survey treatments for difficult to

         19  recruit respondent groups such as young or ethnic

         20  persons, editing procedures, minimum reporting

         21  requirements for media, ascription and data

         22  adjustment procedures employed, errors noted in

         23  published reports and data reissue standards and

         24  reissue instances.

         25                 As noted above, specific audit
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          2  findings are not disseminated to the public or the

          3  press.  Page 4 of the House Report describing the

          4  industry self- regulation process states, "Unless

          5  waived by the service, all hearings and proceedings

          6  are closed and all information submitted is

          7  confidential except that a grant, denial, suspension

          8  or withdrawal of accreditation may be made public by

          9  the Council."  Public disclosure of proprietary

         10  techniques can be detrimental to a rating services'

         11  core business, for example, endangering patented

         12  information.

         13                 Rating services awarded MRC

         14  accreditation are given permission to display the

         15  MRC's logo on the audited research product

         16  indicating compliance with our standards. MRC

         17  standards are publicly available; more importantly,

         18  the extensive methodological and survey performance

         19  disclosures mandated by the MRC are required to be

         20  available to all rating service customers.

         21                 The MRC is truly independent of, and

         22  external to, Nielsen Media Research.

         23                 Status of Nielsen Media Research

         24  Audits. Nielsen Media Research, for all practical

         25  purposes, is the sole provider of television
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          2  audience measurement currency in the U.S.

          3                 Nielsen's primary products cover

          4  national programs, local programs, syndication,

          5  cable, satellite, dedicated research for Hispanics

          6  and by implication the advertisements for all of

          7  these vehicles.  Nielsen also provides several

          8  electronic tools and applications used to deliver

          9  ratings to their customers.  The MRC accredits

         10  several, but not all, of Nielsen's products (see

         11  Appendix C for a complete list).

         12                 Nielsen's National Service based on a

         13  people meter methodology has been MRC accredited

         14  since the late 1980s; Nielsen's meter- diary based

         15  Local Service was originally accredited in the

         16  1960s; Nielsen's National Hispanic Service has been

         17  accredited since 2000.  We believe these services

         18  materially comply with our standards, although the

         19  MRC does maintain a separate ongoing dialogue with

         20  Nielsen regarding quality issues noted in the audit

         21  process in an effort to improve the quality of

         22  research.

         23                 In late 2002, the MRC accredited the

         24  Boston LPM market after considerable auditing and

         25  assessment. Boston was the first Local Service LPM
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          2  market installed by Nielsen.  This initial

          3  audit/accreditation procedure, including Nielsen's

          4  follow- up responses and actions, took almost a year

          5  to accomplish.

          6                 The audit of the New York LPM is

          7  staged for completion in May and for review by our

          8  audit committee on May 27, 2004.  Similar to all MRC

          9  audits, an evaluation of Nielsen's sample

         10  representation and recruitment methodology used in

         11  the New York LPM will be a critical part of our

         12  procedure.

         13                 The timing of our audit of new

         14  markets is determined by Nielsen.  While Nielsen

         15  recently began to execute internal audits which are

         16  published to customers and issue periodic

         17  performance reports on LPM markets pending

         18  installation, the MRC's independent external audit

         19  is not timed to allow for completion prior to

         20  introduction of the market as a local rating

         21  currency.  We have stated to Nielsen that many of

         22  our members do not consider this an optimal

         23  situation for local ratings currency, given

         24  Nielsen's limited experience introducing the people

         25  meter methodology at the local market level.  The
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          2  voluntary nature of our process, however, allows

          3  Nielsen to make this choice.

          4                 Recent Publicity Surrounding

          5  Nielsen's Measurement.  In recent months several

          6  press articles, advertisements and television news

          7  segments have focused attention on Nielsen Media

          8  Research's measurement, the accuracy of the

          9  measurement and specifically the adequacy of

         10  minority representation in Nielsen's survey results.

         11  Numerous press conferences have been held, some

         12  including national and New York City public

         13  officials, discussing this situation.

         14                 Through our audits, we continuously

         15  observe recruitment of minority groups to be a

         16  difficult task for Nielsen and other rating

         17  services.  Ironically, the recent activities may

         18  have the unintended consequence of biasing the

         19  representation of the very groups they are

         20  encouraging Nielsen Medial Research to assure.  Text

         21  such as "It's your remote.  Don't let Nielsen have

         22  control" framed in the context of concerns about

         23  sample representation may damage Nielsen's ability

         24  to gain cooperation from certain demographic groups,

         25  and therefore impact Nielsen's ability to maintain
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          2  adequate representation in its samples.  This

          3  includes the new Local People Meter methodology; but

          4  even more critically, these activities may damage

          5  representation in Nielsen's existing national and

          6  local measurement services...the current advertising

          7   "currency" everywhere. It is a difficult to assess,

          8  or correct for, the representation damage which this

          9  activity could cause.

         10                 One of the most difficult tasks

         11  Nielsen Media Research faces, a task the MRC focuses

         12  attention on, is the recruitment and adequate

         13  representation of minority respondents in surveys.

         14  We urge your sensitivity to this matter and your

         15  assistance in making all parties aware of these

         16  unintended consequences.

         17                 We are not trying to discourage your

         18  deliberations on this subject...we are merely asking

         19  you to consider the unusual consequences public

         20  campaigns may have on the accuracy of media ratings,

         21  particularly as it relates to the minority groups we

         22  (you and the MRC) are trying to protect.

         23                 I hope this provides you with useful

         24  background on the Media Rating Council, our role and

         25  our specific involvement with Nielsen Media
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          2  Research.)

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We are moving to

          4  the subject of Intro. 287.  Thank you.

          5                 For the sake of moving forward, I am

          6  not going to make necessarily an opening statement

          7  but -- Sergeant, could you get the movement outside

          8  of the room, please?  Thank you.

          9                 The second order of business, Intro.

         10  287 is a bill that prohibits stores from offering

         11  sale of previously purchased and returned

         12  undergarments.  The bill was sponsored by my

         13  colleagues, Tony Avella and Eric Martin Dilan.  This

         14  is the first hearing on this bill.  We've already

         15  intended to amend the legislation to prohibit the

         16  actual sale of returned undergarments along with

         17  offering those items for sale, so there is some

         18  adjustment that we are going to be making to this.

         19  But I want to give Council Member Avella, I know who

         20  has tried to be patient with some success today, an

         21  opportunity to make a brief opening statement.  And

         22  I apologize, Council Member Avella, you are caught

         23  in the same whirl of activity that I am.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chairman.  I appreciate the fact that you're
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          2  having a hearing on this today.  On November 19,

          3  2003, and again on February 5th, 2004, CBS Channel 2

          4  News ran a story as a part of reporter Arnold Diaz's

          5   "Shame on You" series, which revealed the shocking

          6  practice by several high end retailers of accepting

          7  the return of previously purchased undergarments and

          8  offering the same for resale to the public.  With

          9  the permission of CBS Channel 2 News, we will be

         10  introducing a videotape of these investigative

         11  stories into the record today.  As you will see from

         12  this tape, although most consumers believe this

         13  practice to be already against the law, it is not

         14  and many of the retailers that you would never

         15  expect to engage in such practices are in fact doing

         16  so.  The health risks created for consumers as a

         17  result of this practice are obvious and this

         18  legislation is necessary to protect the public's

         19  health and make sure that this practice is legally

         20  prohibited

         21                 I would like to conclude by thanking

         22  CBS Channel 2 News and reporter Arnold Diaz for

         23  investigating this story and bringing it to the

         24  public's and the City Council's attention.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very
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          2  much.  I think we're going to see the tape.  I need

          3  to step out for a moment but I've asked my colleague

          4  who has joined us, Council Member James Sanders,

          5  Jr., to Chair the meeting.  I will be back in just a

          6  moment, but I want us to roll the tape in the

          7  meantime.  Thank you.

          8                 I'd like to call the Administration,

          9  the Department of Consumer Affairs to come before

         10  us.  I'd also, of course, like to note that I think

         11   "Shame on You" has done a good job for the City and

         12  of course Council Member Avella has done an

         13  excellent job by bringing this before us.

         14                 Ma'am, would you be kind enough to

         15  state your -- pull that mike toward you and when the

         16  button is off, when the light is off it's actually

         17  on.  If you can identify yourself and your title for

         18  the record and then begin, please.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Thank

         20  you. Good afternoon.  Temporary Chairman Sanders and

         21  members of the Committee and Councilman Avella.  I

         22  am Pauline Toole. I'm an Assistant Commissioner at

         23  the City's Department of Consumer Affairs and we

         24  thank you for this opportunity to testify on Intro.

         25  287, which would prohibit the reselling of underwear
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          2  in New York City. There may be some ribbing about

          3  the bill, but we've been taking this very seriously.

          4                 The Department is familiar with the

          5  reports by CBS 2 reporter Arnold Diaz and the

          6  practice of reselling underwear.  According to his

          7  report, some stores resell returned undergarments

          8  that could possibly have been worn as evidenced by

          9  the removal of the store tags.  Other stores either

         10  do not accept underwear returned without tags or do

         11  not return such merchandise to the inventory because

         12  they view it as potentially damaged.  Some public

         13  health experts believe the practice of reselling

         14  underwear could result in health problems.

         15                 The Department has some questions and

         16  observations about the proposed law.  First, the

         17  definition focuses on clothing only worn below the

         18  waist.  Would items such as body suits be included?

         19  Should the law be expanded to cover bathing suits

         20  which might also pose the same health problems

         21  unearthed by Channel 2?

         22                 Second, we wonder if the prohibition

         23  should cover only undergarments returned without

         24  their store tags rather than all undergarments.

         25                 Third, we note that the investigation

                                                            91

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  launched by Channel 2 is elaborate and costly,

          3  requiring undercover cameras and test purchases.

          4  DCA, which would be responsible for enforcing this

          5  law does not license retail operations that sell

          6  clothes so our inspections are limited.

          7  A similar investment of resources by the Department

          8  would be impossible.  Furthermore, the Council is

          9  not making this offense hearable at DCA's existing

         10  administrative tribunal as you have done in other

         11  instances such as for the sale of laser pointers and

         12  for cigarettes to minors.  If the violation were

         13  hearable and if a violation were found valid, DCA

         14  could ensure that the offending business paid the

         15  price by imposing and collecting the appropriate

         16  fine.

         17                 And fourth, many people now purchase

         18  their clothing, including undergarments, online.  We

         19  wonder if this law could deal with such purchases

         20  and how would you do that?

         21                 And finally, we suggest that in the

         22  interim consumers concerned with this issue should

         23  wash their undergarments prior to wearing them.

         24                 Thank you.  I would be happy to

         25  answer any questions you may have.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I have a set of

          3  questions but I just want to ask one at the moment

          4  because I'm sure Council Member Avella has a series,

          5  some questions and Council Member Sanders.  Forgive

          6  me for not being able to hear all your testimony.

          7  I'm trying to speed read here at the time, at the

          8  moment.

          9                 Is there any regulation that we have

         10  on the return of any kind of clothing in the City?

         11  Are there any laws relating to the return of

         12  clothing or is it completely up to the stores?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  No,

         14  there are laws governing returns and refund

         15  policies.  They're not specific to clothing

         16  necessarily so that unless a store posts its own

         17  limitations in a prominent place, the store has to

         18  accept items back for a period of, I believe, three

         19  weeks.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So there's no

         21  regulation that says that a store is obligated to

         22  say that something had been prepurchased and

         23  returned when they put it back for resale?  In other

         24  words, --

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Not as
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          2  far as I'm aware, not for clothing.  There is a set

          3  of rules that deal with electronics, refurbished

          4  goods but not for clothing, as far as I'm aware.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  We're strictly on

          6  the issue of --

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:

          8  Clothing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  -- Clothing today.

         10    So as far as you know, there's no local law

         11  regarding any of this. But it's an obligation of the

         12  store, is there a law that obligates stores that

         13  sell clothing to accept returns within some period

         14  of time?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Yes,

         16  sir.  And the period of time is set in law.  I

         17  believe it's three weeks.  I don't recall exactly.

         18  The store can, there's a big sort of out in the law

         19  which is that if the store posts a return policy

         20  that's different, that's the one that's found.  So a

         21  store, for example, could say we accept no returns

         22  and as long as it's posted clearly and it's

         23  conspicuous and people know that, that's fair.  But

         24  if they don't post a policy, the fallback is the

         25  time period set in the law.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you.

          3  Council Member Avella and then I know Council Member

          4  Sanders has some questions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.  I

          6  guess just to clarify.  If we were to sit down and

          7  resolve some of the concerns that you have, would

          8  the Administration support the bill?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I

         10  think particularly if you gave us the authority to

         11  hold hearings over the violations, we would be able

         12  to support the bill because then there's a continuum

         13  between going in and doing an enforcement action and

         14  being able to make sure that there is a penalty paid

         15  at the end other than sort of the empty gesture of

         16  not being -- issuing a ticket you can't ever

         17  collect.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Well, I think

         19  we'll certainly sit down and talk about it and I

         20  don't have a problem with that aspect of the bill.

         21  We'll certainly sit down with staff.  And the issue

         22  of the bathing suits has already been under

         23  discussion, to include that.  So I think we, it's

         24  just a matter of sitting down and working out the

         25  final details.
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Good.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Thank

          5  you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chair.  Thank you, Council Member Avella for

          8  bringing this issue.  Good afternoon.  I would just

          9  want to state probably the obvious, but let me state

         10  that if these stores are taking back these underwear

         11  from women, in all probability this is not simply a

         12  question of women's undergarments, they're probably

         13  doing it with men's undergarments, too.  I trust

         14  that the bill is wide enough to reflect a little bit

         15  of everybody here.  Then my answer, I've got my

         16  answer.  Let us continue.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I

         18  would note two things.  If you want to know the

         19  exact period set in the law for returns, we would

         20  look that up and get that to you. But also, there

         21  are many kinds of clothing that is returned and is

         22  somehow soiled that stores accept back.  Maybe they

         23  don't present the same hazards, but certainly that

         24  is a problem.  So consumers need always to be alert

         25  and check out what they're purchasing.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.  And I

          3  certainly want to thank my colleagues for not only

          4  sharing that one microphone but their brevity.  Did

          5  the Department of Consumer Affairs, to your

          6  knowledge, did you see this report, this quote

          7  investigation?  Is this the first time you've seen

          8  this or you've been aware of this?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  I have

         10  seen the report before, yes.  And in fact, Council

         11  Member Avella contacted our office to find out the

         12  rules and laws that might exist that would already

         13  protect people when there is not one.  So --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So did the

         15  Department of Consumer Affairs take action, think of

         16  taking action?  Had not Council Member Avella

         17  brought this to your attention, would this just have

         18  been a report?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Is

         20  your question was the Department proposing

         21  legislation?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  The

         24  Department was not proposing legislation along these

         25  lines.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Because the

          3  Department doesn't necessarily see this as a serious

          4  enough problem because -- I'm curious.  I mean we

          5  have a good working relationship.  As you have said

          6  before, you've often brought bills, legislation to

          7  us to give your agency more authority

          8  to look at broader issues.  So I'm just curious.

          9  Yes, you said you'd like to work with us on this.

         10  Have you had consumer complaints from people about

         11  this issue?  You were correct I think in stating

         12  that all garments are returnable, many of which are

         13  also soiled.  We may be particularly offended

         14  because of the nature of these being undergarments,

         15  but do we know statistically the number of people

         16  who have complained to the Department of Consumer

         17  Affairs?  Has the Department ever said -- is there

         18  some measures that we should take?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  The

         20  Department, to the best of my knowledge, has not

         21  received any complaints about the return of used

         22  underwear.  However, the Department from time to

         23  time does receive complaints from people who have

         24  purchased items that were not to their satisfaction

         25  and they enlist the help of our mediators to achieve
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          2  an agreement with the store to take the item back or

          3  resolve this situation.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And I think,

          5  Council Member Avella, in thinking about my own

          6  purchasing, oftentimes men, I don't know about

          7  women, I presume that you buy these things in

          8  packages.  So I don't know how your bill would

          9  address, it's an open question, I don't know how

         10  that might be addressed if you buy a package of

         11  three or six and you find something wrong with it,

         12  although you've worn it, so I'm not sure and I don't

         13  know if you want to try to respond to that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  I should

         15  respond.  It doesn't make a distinction because this

         16  is one of things that we had discussed in

         17  formulating the bill with staff as well, is if

         18  somebody really wanted to fool the system, in

         19  effect, they could just reseal the package and you

         20  would still not know.  So I mean, but that's

         21  something we can discuss further if there is some

         22  mechanism of packaging that cannot be tampered with,

         23  then I don't think any of us have a problem with

         24  that.

         25                 I just want to comment on something
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          2  you said about complaints being received.  I don't

          3  think they would get complaints because I don't

          4  think people realize, and certainly I didn't realize

          5  until I saw the report on Channel 2, that the stores

          6  are doing this.  You would think when you purchase

          7  an undergarment you are getting a new item.  It

          8  would never occur to anybody that the store was

          9  putting back somebody's returned item.  I don't

         10  think they would even know to complain.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you for your

         12  testimony.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER TOOLE:  Thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Is there anyone

         16  here from Channel 2?  Okay.  Well, oh, Channel 2 has

         17  declined to testify.  We don't typically bring

         18  things in accepted whole cloth.  So pardon the pun.

         19  I knew somebody would get it. Thank you, Frank.

         20  Thank you, Frank.

         21                 Mr. Halperin, I think, is here to

         22  testify in opposition to the bill.  Pretty much.

         23  But not maybe not completely.  Is there anyone else

         24  here that's here to testify about this bill, for or

         25  against?  No?  Okay.  Thank you.  Please identify
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          2  yourself for the record.

          3                 MR. HALPERIN: Good afternoon,

          4  Chairman Reed and members of the Committee.  My name

          5  is Donald Halperin. I'm here to testify today on

          6  behalf of the New York Metropolitan Retail

          7  Association, commonly known as NYMRA, an

          8  organization consisting primarily of major national

          9  chain retailers operating within the City of New

         10  York.

         11                 NYMRA members are committed to

         12  satisfying their customers.  This bill, which would

         13  prohibit the resale of returned underwear,

         14  highlights two conflicting consumer objectives.

         15  Many consumers consider the right to return

         16  purchased merchandise as very significant.  Other

         17  consumers want to be assured that no one else has

         18  worn undergarments that they are buying.  Some want

         19  both.  Since it is unreasonable to expect all

         20  retailers to simply accept for return and never

         21  resell undergarments, these two policy

         22  considerations come into conflict.  I hasten to add,

         23  however, that some NYMRA members do in fact accept

         24  returns and do not resell them.  Of course, the cost

         25  of those returns and unsold garments will at some
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          2  point be passed on to all other customers.  Other

          3  retailers do not permit the return of undergarments

          4  under any circumstances.

          5                 No NYMRA member that sells underwear

          6  intends to resell garments that have been worn for

          7  any extended period of time.  The real question is

          8  whether a consumer should have the right to try on

          9  underwear with the option of returning it.  Many

         10  stores currently have the policy of examining

         11  returned underwear and determining whether the

         12  garment has been worn in any way so as to damage or

         13  soil it. For example, NYMRA members have a general

         14  policy not to accept the return of undergarments

         15  from which the tags have been removed.  And I just

         16  watched this and I can tell you that at least many

         17  of the people working at the higher levels are

         18  unaware that garments are being accepted without the

         19  tags because that's the stated general policy that

         20  is circulated.  And maybe that's an area where we

         21  can work together to try to get that policy strongly

         22  implemented. Although it is possible that a customer

         23  would try on an undergarment with tags and then

         24  decide to return it, it is unlikely that the garment

         25  would have been worn for an extended period of time.
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          2                 NYMRA believes that consumers should

          3  be given the option to decide for themselves whether

          4  they wish to patronize a retailer that will accept

          5  and resell underwear or one that prohibits returns.

          6  Of course, a concerned consumer could simply wash

          7  all garments before wearing, which in fact is common

          8  sense and many manufacturers suggest.   Under any

          9  circumstances, the legislation should be amended to

         10  exclude factory packaged garments where that package

         11  has never been opened.

         12                 We are prepared to work with the

         13  Committee and the sponsor of the legislation and I

         14  commit to making NYMRA members and myself available

         15  to you for that purpose.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you very

         17  much for your testimony.  You're under the wire

         18  there.  I wondered what that bell was.  I forgot

         19  until Gina turned the bell off.  Okay.  He's pretty

         20  good, though.

         21                 You were aware that we were having

         22  this hearing today.  I think you're here.  Were you

         23  aware of this videotape?

         24                 MR. HALPERIN:  No.  That's why I was

         25  surprised to see that they would -- because
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          2  everything I've been told is that they generally

          3  don't take back garments when the labels have been

          4  removed.

          5                 MS. BROWN:  For the record, I'm

          6  Deborah Brown.  I'm counsel to the Committee.  This

          7  was an edited version of the tape that we put on

          8  just in the interest of time.  The tape goes on, as

          9  I was indicating to the Chair, the tape goes on with

         10  several statements from spokespeople from a number

         11  of these stores and they're along the lines of

         12  obviously this was a one- time mistake to we're

         13  going to work on this problem.  For the record.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And what I think

         15  we will do is to provide you, since you're the

         16  representative of the New York Metropolitan Retail

         17  Association, a copy of the full tape because we

         18  certainly want to hear testimony based on the whole

         19  tape.  But I would also -- I have some other

         20  questions, but I want to make a point to CBS News

         21  that, while I appreciate this tape, I'm disinclined

         22  to support legislation based on a media report if

         23  that particular media outlet is unwilling to come

         24  and answer questions of this Committee about how the

         25  tape was made.  I don't think that that's too much
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          2  to ask.  I think we're supportive of it but I, as

          3  the Chair of the Consumer Affairs, am going to ask

          4  CBS, if I need to I'll subpoena CBS, to come and

          5  testify about the tape.  I don't think it's that

          6  complicated to ask that.  I think we've been -- a

          7  real question has been put out there and it's

          8  irresponsible, I think, of this Committee to just

          9  accept information as its being presented on a

         10  television.  If that were the case -- well, I won't

         11  go into the -- never mind.  I was thinking about

         12  George Bush but I won't go there.  So I would

         13  certainly like to let CBS know that we are looking

         14  forward to them to come to talk to us about that.

         15  My understanding is that they originally agreed to

         16  come and then they decided not to come.

         17                 The retail merchants, I think, target

         18   -- there's a big sale of undergarments.  This is a

         19  popular item.  This is something that people

         20  oftentimes come to the store for.  Yes?

         21                 MR. HALPERIN:  Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So there's a big

         23  industry and there's a lot of money in this.  It's

         24  not like, it's not the product that's on the back

         25  shelf that occasionally somebody comes in.  So there
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          2  would be some concern, I would think, about

          3  regulating that amount of product in terms of

          4  revenue.

          5                 MR. HALPERIN:  Well, I think it goes

          6  beyond that.  Part of the issue is that there are

          7  some stores that pride themselves on their return

          8  policy and while this bill does not specifically

          9  prohibit returns, it certainly by prohibiting the

         10  resale of returned items would either result, as I

         11  said in the testimony, in stores deciding not to

         12  return or to absorb the cost.  That, of course, like

         13  all other costs would eventually be passed on to

         14  other consumers who might never return anything.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  So you don't think

         16  that the merchants would be opposed to perhaps

         17  having in a sales bin a signage that perhaps says

         18  that merchandise here in this sales bin may have

         19  been previously worn or tried on or something to

         20  that effect, to at least give notice to the

         21  consumer?

         22                 MR. HALPERIN:  The group I represent

         23  has many different members and I can't speak on

         24  behalf of them all at this time.  I can certainly,

         25  and as I said at the end, I mean I'll answer as best
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          2  I can and then we can -- because this is the first

          3  hearing, as I understand, and there --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Yes.

          5                 MR. HALPERIN:  -- Are going to be

          6  amendments, follow up with you on some of these

          7  proposals.  I don't, I really can't answer that

          8  particular question.  I don't know. They may have

          9  different policies.  As I say, some decide not to

         10  resell.  I don't know.  I was told that by one

         11  store. But I also hesitate to name the stores until

         12  I can really establish because I put this testimony

         13  together fairly quickly to respond to the notice and

         14  be here today.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I appreciate that.

         16    I think the flip side, as the Chair of Consumer

         17  Affairs, to protecting consumers, I'm also concerned

         18  that if we put some unequivocal prohibition on the

         19  return of this, that many people who innocently buy

         20  something that's wrong for them for whatever reason

         21  or they purchased something as a gift are going to

         22  be left without recourse or able to get their money

         23  back or a refund.  So I'm trying to find a way to

         24  balance both sides of this.

         25                 And I certainly think the issue that
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          2  you said about prepackaging, we don't want to add

          3  additional cost either to the manufacturer or to the

          4  retailer.  But I think Council Member Avella is

          5  right on point here that there's a problem and the

          6  most common refrain on this is "it's disgusting".

          7  Then it's "there ought to be a law".  That's the

          8  second thing they say.  I think we're trying to find

          9  that law in there.

         10                 So we will make sure that you get a

         11  copy of the full tape.  We'd like to hear from these

         12  retailers based on -- since you haven't seen this

         13  before, as our counsel has stated, they were asked.

         14  There's clear controversy or conflict between what

         15  they said and what was happening, so we'd like to

         16  know what they're doing now because this tape is

         17  from March?  No, it's from November.  So I would

         18  wonder that if we went in and did an investigation

         19  today, maybe we'd find the same thing.  I don't

         20  know.  Even though I'm sure several of these stores

         21  stood there and said it never should have happened

         22  and it will never happen again, we want to know

         23  what's on their mind.

         24                 MR. HALPERIN:  Normally, I mean I

         25  know when I buy something and I want to return it,
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          2  they want the label on there.  I mean I was

          3  surprised to see this.  And not just underwear,

          4  anything.  Once you take that label off, it's yours.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Exactly.

          6                 MR. HALPERIN:  At least the stores I

          7  purchase in.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  There are no other

          9  questions.  Council Member Avella?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  It's sort of

         11  a question and it's a comment on what you said.  The

         12  original story by Channel 2 aired on November 19th

         13  and then they went back on February 5th, 2004,

         14  actually doing men's garments and they found that

         15  the practice was still going on.  So November,

         16  December, January, February, we're still talking

         17  about a four- month period where they could have had

         18  an opportunity.  The question I guess I have is I

         19  appreciate the comment to willingness to work with

         20  myself and the Committee and the Chair, if we were

         21  to address the issue of sealed documents, the

         22  packaging, would the industry be willing to accept

         23  this bill if in fact this is something they do not

         24  want to do as a policy?

         25                 MR. HALPERIN:  Well, that will --
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          2  once again, different members have different

          3  attitudes and that was one thing that everybody

          4  absolutely agree on.  Some of the stores which don't

          5  accept returns of undergarments obviously would not

          6  be directly opposed to the bill and wouldn't --

          7  whether they would endorse the bill, I will say that

          8  there is a concern generally among retailers, and

          9  I'm sure among other agencies, about being

         10  micromanaged and everything and they view often that

         11  this is a decision of the consumer and they'll

         12  decide whether they want to go to the store that has

         13  a return policy or not.  So there's that sort of

         14  philosophical underpinning.  I'm not going to

         15  suggest that they would be wildly enthralled by the

         16  concept of the legislation, but I can say that at

         17  least if we can approach some of these other issues,

         18  perhaps by some means of ensuring an adequate

         19  inspection or other things, you know, to the extent

         20  you can go further in that direction, there will be

         21  less opposition or concern.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  I think we

         23  also have to make it clear this bill in no way

         24  interferes with the retail operation's return

         25  policy.  It has absolutely nothing to do with that.
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          2  In fact, I think as one of the tapes showed, one of

          3  the stores accepted the --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  One of the members

          5  did do that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  And then

          7  doesn't put it out for resale.  It's the issue of

          8  putting it out for resale after you've accepted the

          9  return, and so I acknowledge that.  But don't you

         10  feel that this is a legitimate health issue?  I

         11  mean, would you want to go into a store and you're

         12  not going to know?  See, that's the thing, you're

         13  putting it on the consumer.  The consumer's not

         14  going to know unless they do their own investigative

         15  report and that's foolish to expect, I think,

         16  someone to be able to do that.  Would you want to go

         17  into a store knowing that there's a possibility that

         18  somebody else has worn an undergarment like that and

         19  there is a health issue involved?

         20                 MR. HALPERIN:  Actually, since

         21  focusing on the issue, I don't know that I'd have a

         22  problem buying it but from now on I will be watching

         23  whatever I buy that's not in a sealed package.

         24  Maybe I should wash it if it's in a sealed package.

         25  And by the way, without mentioning the brand name,
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          2  because I don't represent them so why should I give

          3  them a plug, but I do buy underwear in sealed

          4  plastic and I don't think there's any way you could

          5  close that up again without knowing that it had been

          6  opened.  So I do think there are already items being

          7  sold sealed that clearly -- in fact, I once bought

          8  three sets of three underwear and when I opened up

          9  the first one I found it didn't really fit right or

         10  I wasn't looking carefully, I don't remember what it

         11  was, it was a few years ago, and I returned the

         12  other two.  And I never even thought to return the

         13  one I had opened, but I did return the other two.

         14  Actually, exchanged them.

         15                 In answer to your -- but having a lot

         16  of discussions with people, never have I ever

         17  discussed underwear quite so much and really since I

         18  knew --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  And as soon as you

         20  end your testimony, we won't be discussing it quite

         21  as much.

         22                 MR. HALPERIN:  I'm going to think

         23  about something else tonight.  And I've asked a lot

         24  of people this question and I've gotten a wide

         25  variety, but the last person I spoke to happened to
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          2  be, he said I could use his name but I don't know if

          3  I want to do that, he said "What, if I go to

          4  Bloomingdale's I won't be able to return it?"  Now,

          5  actually, Bloomingdale's was the one that did accept

          6  it for return.  But I don't know that, I don't know,

          7  I have no idea if they maintain that policy but I

          8  know a lot of stores are going to be forced not to

          9  accept returns.  And he felt more strongly.  He said

         10   "It's more important to me to return it. I'll worry

         11  about that other way."  So people have different

         12  attitudes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  Thank you for your

         14  testimony.

         15                 MR. HALPERIN:  Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  I just want

         17  to make a quick comment in defense of Channel 2,

         18  because we had reached out to them for the tape,

         19  myself and my staff, and from what I understand they

         20  felt that the tape speaks for itself and their

         21  comment was that they're in the business of covering

         22  the news, not making the news, and if they were here

         23  testifying, in effect, they're making the news.  So

         24  that was their distinction and I certainly abided by

         25  that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REED:  I appreciate that

          3  and I don't think we in any way want to condemn

          4  them, but there probably would be some questions

          5  about the methodology, what provoked it in the first

          6  place and I just, my own gut says that people bring

          7  information to us, then we move forward on it as if

          8  it's gospel and that is not the way this Chair wants

          9  to move forward with legislation.  I'm sure that

         10  what they did was a service to the community.  It

         11  prompted, I think, the potential for good

         12  legislation, but I would like to have the

         13  opportunity to then not have the other side say "You

         14  saw something on TV and you passed a law."  I'm not

         15  sure any of us want to go back to our constituents

         16  and respond to that.  So that's the point, but we

         17  could certainly discuss it with them further.

         18                 Thank you very much.  Seeing nobody

         19  else to testify on either of these issues today,

         20  this hearing is adjourned.  Thank you very much.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 3:15 p.m.)
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